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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Sorry for the

          3  little delay.

          4                 Good afternoon, and welcome to

          5  today's hearing of the Committee on Transportation.

          6                 There are two items on today's

          7  agenda, proposed Intro. No. 943-A, which is still

          8  being Xeroxed, and it will be available, the final,

          9  final version, and proposed Intro. No. 262-A.

         10                 The first matter to be considered is

         11  proposed Intro. 943-A, which deals with the

         12  regulation of news racks.

         13                 The City's sidewalks have long been

         14  burdened with the uncontrolled placement and

         15  maintenance of news racks, which are the boxes

         16  holding publications that are placed on sidewalks.

         17                 The number of these news racks have

         18  proliferated in recent years to unprecedented

         19  levels, often posing difficulties for pedestrians

         20  walking down the sidewalks.

         21                 The glut of news racks that can often

         22  be found at the block corners, or heavy pedestrian

         23  traffic areas presents a potential danger to the

         24  safety of pedestrians.

         25                 It causes pedestrian traffic to spill
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          2  out into the street, and in certain instances it

          3  impedes the ability of individuals to access the

          4  sidewalk upon exiting from motor vehicles or

          5  buildings.

          6                 In addition, the uncontrolled

          7  placement of these racks may prevent emergency

          8  services personnel from effectively performing their

          9  authorized duties.

         10                 In addition to that, for those who

         11  have this problem of news racks, can tell you

         12  particularly in the other boroughs, other than

         13  Manhattan, they've become a garbage dump as well,

         14  and in other times when kids have nothing else to

         15  do, they decide to light these boxes up and have a

         16  bon fire.

         17                 So, we have a serious, serious

         18  problem, in particular today we don't need these

         19  extra boxes. We have to be security conscious more

         20  than ever, and we don't need extra boxes where

         21  people could have fun with.

         22                 Intro. 943-A would regulate the

         23  placement of maintenance of news racks for the first

         24  time. The bill sets out a procedure for obtaining

         25  approval from the Department of Transportation, in
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          2  order to place certain types of news racks on

          3  sidewalks.

          4                 It also details who may be granted

          5  such approval and under what circumstances.

          6                 The purpose of this bill is not to

          7  restrict the sale and distribution of written

          8  matter, but simply to provide access to such vending

          9  through appropriate and justifiable means.

         10                 I must tell you the best example we

         11  have that was a voluntary example was that what the

         12  Grand Central Partnership does, it's a beautiful,

         13  beautiful piece, as many news racks as there are,

         14  it's available to everybody, and it's just a

         15  pleasure to see and does not impede and does not

         16  cause any danger for anybody.

         17                 And I understand that other bids are

         18  following the same way, and this bill will help them

         19  with this.

         20                 The second item on today's agenda is

         21  proposed Intro. Number 262-A, which suspends

         22  alternate side of the street parking rules in New

         23  York City on the holidays of Purim, Ash Wednesday

         24  and St. Patrick's Day.

         25                 This bill is important because it
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          2  will for the first time probably recognize the

          3  significance and magnitude of these three holidays

          4  to the City's Jewish and Christian populations. The

          5  Jews, Purim is a celebration of Jews perseverance

          6  and triumph over persecution in ancient Persia. For

          7  Christians Ash Wednesday marks the beginning of the

          8  observance of the holy period of Lent, which

          9  culminates in the celebration of Easter.

         10                 St. Patrick's Day honors St. Patrick,

         11  the patron of Saint of Ireland, and commemorates the

         12  death on March 17th in the Year 461. Many Christians

         13  attend church on the morning of March 17th, which

         14  would create a problem if there is alternate side of

         15  the street parking, where they would alleviate this

         16  problem so they can attend church services.

         17                 Proposed Intro. 262-A would support

         18  the City's recognition for these three important

         19  religious holidays for Jews and Christians, but

         20  suspending alternate side of the street parking

         21  rules on all three days.

         22                 At this time, it gives me a great

         23  pleasure to introduce the Commissioner of

         24  Transportation, Iris Weinshall, to testify on the

         25  original bill that we have before us and famous news
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          2  rack bill, and also let the public know, we're not

          3  trying to rush something through here, not because

          4  we have a few more weeks and it's what we'd like to

          5  walk away with. This was an ongoing plan, piece of

          6  legislation going on for several years that we've

          7  had already several hearings on.

          8                 I must give the credit to this

          9  Commissioner, because when she took over just a

         10  short while ago, she had a lot of things on her

         11  plate, and I remember addressing many, many issues,

         12  including news racks, and she said I'm going to

         13  attend to it, and during the summer she came to me

         14  and we talked about it and we had something planned

         15  right before September 11th. Believe me, we would

         16  have had ongoing negotiations, and we'd have had

         17  something passed by then, unfortunately, due to

         18  September 11th, a lot of things have changed in our

         19  lives, but we still have to continue to go on.

         20                 And one thing that I am very troubled

         21  by, and I get a lot of complaints from my

         22  colleagues, is the fact that the news racks, not the

         23  ones, you know, the big newspapers, they keep a very

         24  good order and they do a good job, and need someone

         25  they can go to and complain to about.
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          2                 But when you get these fly-by-night

          3  newspapers or publications or someone just wakes up

          4  one morning and decides to publish something and

          5  puts the box out there and there's no one to call

          6  afterwards, that's what brings up some very serious

          7  problems. And I said that this is one of the things

          8  I always wanted to do and address, and I appreciate

          9  that, Commissioner.

         10                 And it also gives you an opportunity

         11  again, Commissioner, since September 11th. I know

         12  we've complemented you before, but I must tell you,

         13  you've done a yeoman's job in working with this

         14  Mayor, but there's a lot of issues that people don't

         15  realize that DOT had to deal with, and I must tell

         16  you, I've seen so much of a difference, every day a

         17  difference, how traffic, believe it or not is

         18  getting better, for a change since September 11th.

         19  No one would believe we would ever be where we can

         20  before, but we're getting there, I see it, and I

         21  want to thank you so much for all that work you do.

         22  And I know it's from the staff, they tell me that

         23  you're there 24/7 literally. So, thank you very

         24  much, and welcome to the Council again.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chairman. And thank you for those kind words.

          3                 I'd like to introduce to my left,

          4  Seth Cummings, who is the General Counsel at DOT,

          5  and he will be answering questions as well.

          6                 I want to thank the City Council and

          7  Chairman Dear for inviting me here today in support

          8  of Intro. 943-A.

          9                 On behalf of the Administration and

         10  the Department of Transportation, I would like to

         11  describe to you the importance of this legislation,

         12  which will provide the Department with a mechanism

         13  to add much needed control to the placement and

         14  maintenance of news racks on our City streets.

         15                 But let me be clear from the outset,

         16  this bill by no means eliminates the ability of

         17  publishers to make their materials available on

         18  public space, rather it gives order to a street use

         19  that has spiraled dangerously out of control.

         20                 In recent years there has been a

         21  proliferation of these boxes throughout the City,

         22  some charging for newspapers, others offering free

         23  materials. While the news racks are certainly a

         24  useful mechanism for businesses to make their

         25  publications available, and for New Yorkers to have
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          2  ready access to this reading material, inappropriate

          3  placement and poor upkeep of these boxes has

          4  contributed to the desecration of many of our

          5  sidewalks, and perhaps most important, has

          6  endangered the health and safety of New Yorkers.

          7                 Boxes are all too often placed

          8  directly in intersection curb cuts, providing an

          9  impediment to pedestrians and making it particularly

         10  difficult for the disabled.

         11                 Secured improperly, enabling them to

         12  be knocked into the middle of sidewalks and streets,

         13  and allowed to fall into disuse by their sponsors,

         14  so that they simply serve as advertising the owners,

         15  or in some cases become filled with refuse.

         16                 These photos demonstrate merely a few

         17  examples of these problematic boxes and do not do

         18  justice to the many complaints the Department has

         19  received in recent years from residents, community

         20  groups and elected officials, regarding crowded

         21  corners and broken boxes, complaints this City has

         22  been powerless to address.

         23                 While we do not question that news

         24  box sponsors should be free to make their

         25  publications available on our sidewalks, DOT is
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          2  concerned that there currently is no adequate

          3  mechanism to manage and regulate box placement in

          4  the five boroughs.

          5                 Bear in mind that DOT, through the

          6  Administrative Code, does have the ability to

          7  regulate most other uses on our streets and

          8  sidewalks - from home-owner encroachments to

          9  contract to work under the streets. That this

         10  particular use involves a form of speech and that it

         11  therefore should trump any regulation to manage it

         12  frankly does not make sense.

         13                 Should a publisher therefore be

         14  allowed to pile as many racks as it wants on a

         15  street preventing pedestrian access completely?

         16                 Clearly we would agree no. But the

         17  City currently does not have the ability to prevent

         18  this from happening.

         19                 Our goal is simply to provide as much

         20  as access as possible for literature dissemination

         21  without jeopardizing pedestrian safety and the

         22  sanctity of our sidewalks.

         23                 As all too often happens in

         24  government, unfortunately we have been too slow in

         25  updating administrative law and regulatory practice
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          2  to keep pace with a relatively new trend. Now we

          3  have an opportunity to catch up to the reality of

          4  what's happening on our shared space.

          5                 Rather than put in place a cumbersome

          6  permitting process, the bill affords the Department

          7  the authority to establish appropriate guidelines

          8  for the placement, construction and maintenance of

          9  single news racks, and directs DOT to promulgate

         10  rules for those purposes.

         11                 DOT therefore will be able to

         12  establish by rule minimum clearance requirements, in

         13  particular, clearances at intersections in near

         14  sidewalk ramps.

         15                 Department rules will also be able to

         16  provide for, among other things, insurance, maximum

         17  dimensions, and how structures are attached, such as

         18  ballasts for single racks, as opposed to chains.

         19                 Intro. 943-A also provides a

         20  mechanism for encouraging the use of multi racks - a

         21  form of news rack used by the Grand Central Business

         22  Improvement District and the 34th Partnership, and

         23  prevalent in other cities.

         24                 These boxes provide room for multiple

         25  publications in a safe, orderly and consistent
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          2  manner.

          3                 Accordingly, the legislation affords

          4  reliable community members - Business Improvement

          5  Districts and adjacent property owners (in areas

          6  where there are no BID) -- the opportunity to place

          7  multiracks and precludes the placement of a single

          8  rack on those block faces or within 100 feet of

          9  multi racks.

         10                 In order to ensure equal access to

         11  these racks, the sponsors would have to develop

         12  random selection processes in instances where demand

         13  exceeds capacity.

         14                 And let me emphasize that the use of

         15  multiracks will not only improve pedestrian safety,

         16  they also will improve sidewalks aesthetics.

         17                 Groupings of tattered and mismatched

         18  single newsracks of different color and design will

         19  be replaced by well-designed and well-maintained

         20  multiracks.

         21                 One of the missions of the BIDs over

         22  the years has been to take the lead on improving the

         23  physical environment on their streets and make them

         24  more attractive to businesses and their customers.

         25                 They invest in additional sanitation

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  services and special infrastructure elements, such

          3  as distinctive light fixtures, paving stones and

          4  signage.

          5                 Multiracks should be another item on

          6  their menu of improvements. And multiracks will also

          7  improve aesthetics outside of business improvement

          8  districts when adjoining property owners choose to

          9  install them.

         10                 Similarly, a more sensible and

         11  orderly placement of single racks should provide an

         12  aesthetic enhancement to our sidewalks.

         13                 It is important to note that the bill

         14  also authorizes the Department to order newsracks

         15  into compliance with the provisions of law and

         16  agency rules.

         17                 Sponsors of noncompliant racks would

         18  have seven days to conform to the law and rules - or

         19  else the boxes would be removed.

         20                 Once again, I cannot emphasize enough

         21  that the Administration does not seek to curtail the

         22  ability of publishers to distribute their

         23  literature. On the contrary.

         24                 We only want to ensure that this

         25  information dissemination is balanced with the safe
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          2  and orderly use of the space we all share.

          3                 Intro. 943-A would accomplish this,

          4  and for that reason, the Administration gives our

          5  enthusiastic support to this bill.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I know we had some

          7  discussion before concerning the concerns the

          8  publishers had.

          9                 Obviously this is a little of a

         10  snapshot of what we're dealing with. At the present

         11  time, for example, the one on Sixth Avenue and 57th

         12  Street, would you have the right now to remove it

         13  because they're blocking the crosswalk?

         14                 MR. CUMMINGS: We could push it to the

         15  side.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Right.

         17                 MR. CUMMINGS: We wouldn't have a

         18  right to move it.

         19                 We don't have any rules right now.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Meanwhile I want to

         21  get this clear so people understand.

         22                 So, if I was to put out a sign that

         23  says come to my store on the corner, then you would

         24  have a right to pick it up?

         25                 MR. CUMMINGS: There may be specific
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          2  provisions in the Administrative Code that talk

          3  about no advertizing signs in the sidewalk, because

          4  of the first amendment nature of news racks, it does

          5  not apply here.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: And that means any

          7  type of block, I mean if someone would put some, I

          8  don't know, put a bicycle rack there, for whatever

          9  reason, and just have some fun and put it in that

         10  corner and block the sidewalk, you would have a

         11  right to take it?

         12                 I mean, anything blocking or impeding

         13  the sidewalk you have a right to remove, right?

         14                 MR. CUMMINGS: Generally.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Based on what?

         16                 MR. CUMMINGS: Based upon specific

         17  provisions in the Administrative Code, in DOT or

         18  other statutes, Sanitation, other agencies.

         19                 DOT's code, if I can say, was written

         20  at a time where it was focused on things done by the

         21  adjoining property owner to use the sidewalk or

         22  under the sidewalk and heavy construction done by

         23  contractors, either for the City or for the property

         24  owner.

         25                 It didn't, I don't think, take into
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          2  consideration the development in the last several

          3  decades of news racks.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: And also other

          5  things, other issues, because we have a lot of times

          6  things that come up, people put up a trailer or

          7  something like that that we have not addressed.

          8                 Now, but I also thought that you have

          9  the right to keep the sidewalk clear and free, safe

         10  for pedestrians; would that be something that you

         11  have a right then at that point to regulate someone?

         12                 MR. CUMMINGS: That's our mission. We

         13  try to think that's what our intention is.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: So, what you have

         15  now here, obviously, is a problem that's gotten out

         16  of hand because you know, you could move something

         17  over but then it causes some other problems, and

         18  then, of course, the unsightly problems that they

         19  have. These are not something I would like to see on

         20  my corner, my streets, you know, with stickers and,

         21  you know, garbage and everything else that's around

         22  it.

         23                 What happens with the law here that

         24  you're proposing now that gives you then the right

         25  to now formulate regulations, which then we could
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          2  sort of regulate them so we have some semblance of

          3  order; is that what you attempt here?

          4                 MR. CUMMINGS:  I mean, time, place

          5  and manner is a phrase that's used often with the

          6  regulation of First Amendment activity.

          7                 The regulations that we envision for

          8  single racks deal mostly with clearances and

          9  possibly maximum dimensions, and the need to have

         10  insurance.

         11                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: The answer is

         12  yes. That's the goal here of this legislation.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Okay.

         14                 Now, on the single ones, we're not

         15  addressing it, it's going to be addressed by

         16  regulation, rather than addressing this in the law?

         17  What are your plans, and with the single ones, how

         18  do you want it, what is your vision for the single

         19  boxes?

         20                 MR. CUMMINGS: You mean multiple

         21  boxes?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: No, the individual

         23  boxes. The single ones. Not the multiple. It's

         24  either a BID or the home owner --

         25                 MR. CUMMINGS: The newspapers, as they
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          2  do now, or publishers, or owners of the printed

          3  matter, buy their own box and figure it out on the

          4  sidewalk.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: But they're going

          6  to have to come to you. If an individual not

          7  controlled by a BID, they're going to have to come

          8  to you for that permit.

          9                 MR. CUMMINGS: There is no permit, if

         10  there -- there is no site-by-site permit for a

         11  single news rack.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Okay.

         13                 MR. CUMMINGS: Approval would have to

         14  be gotten from DOT for the larger, multi-rack

         15  structure that gets bolted in on the sidewalk, and

         16  requires breaking of the sidewalk.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: So what prevents

         18  then the more single ones popping up again like

         19  this, if we're not going to regulate?

         20                 MR. CUMMINGS: They will be regulated.

         21  Single ones will be regulated probably with

         22  clearance requirements. Multiple racks, there also

         23  is a provision that has 100 foot buffer, so that if

         24  I'm on a block face with a multiple rack, a single

         25  rack would have to be at least 100 feet away, which
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          2  would probably be around the corner, if there were

          3  no further multiracks on the next block to provide a

          4  visual, sort of calming effect, that someone is

          5  investing their energy and their design in a large

          6  rack.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: So, let's make it

          8  clear. No one has to worry, we're not getting rid of

          9  them. All we're doing is putting some semblage of

         10  order and telling them where they can be.

         11                 MR. CUMMINGS: If someone comes to DOT

         12  and says here is my insurance --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Right. And that's

         14  also important, insurance. Go ahead.

         15                 MR. CUMMINGS: And I've got your

         16  whatever placement criteria are promulgated in our

         17  rules, they can then go out and put them on the

         18  sidewalk.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: What's going to

         20  prevent them -- by the way, I never thought about

         21  this, it came up when we were doing planting of

         22  trees, what stops somebody from putting something in

         23  front of my house, if I don't want it? Is there any

         24  way that I can stop them from putting a single box

         25  in front of my house?
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          2                 MR. CUMMINGS: If there's nothing else

          3  there,  probably not.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: So the truth is

          5  then, they are going to be out there, the only thing

          6  is there's going to be regulation, which can be

          7  promulgated by DOT telling them, obviously, not near

          8  a hydrant or, you know, other safety, and not ten of

          9  them in a -- what's it called again? In a crosswalk.

         10                 MR. CUMMINGS: And we look forward to

         11  working, getting everybody's comments, in

         12  particular, the owners of the new racks and the

         13  publishers --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: That's when they

         15  will be called in and sitting down with you and I

         16  take you on your word on that, Commissioner.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Just a quick

         18  question?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Go ahead.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

         21                 Welcome, Commissioner. It's good to

         22  see you.

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: It's good to

         24  see you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Just a quick
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          2  thing and then we can go on.

          3                 You have somewhere a listing, it's

          4  documented, it's encoded, the size, shape, color of

          5  multiple or singles that will be, that are allowable

          6  now, or will be allowable in the future?

          7                 MR. CUMMINGS: There are no current

          8  requirements now.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Once the law

         10  is passed, we will promulgate rules, and, you know,

         11  we'll take our lead as to what's out there now, as

         12  to the maximum side of a single rack, we will hear

         13  what the publishers and rack owners have to say, and

         14  with respect to the multiple racks, you know, we

         15  look to the great experiment that's been done by the

         16  Midtown BIDs, but we're open to other statements.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: So, that would

         18  be very important, obviously. It would be like

         19  somebody could put something out there, maybe six

         20  feet tall right now and it might be considered

         21  prejudice to remove it at this point.

         22                 MR. CUMMINGS: They could. They could.

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Councilman,

         24  we've seen various types of racks go up all over the

         25  City, the latest version was something like a sled
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          2  that allowed multiple free publications to go in. It

          3  was chained to one of our light posts in Tribecca.

          4  It was about six feet tall, and that was the latest

          5  version of a news rack that we saw.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Okay, because

          7  my constitutional light went on, but then there has

          8  to be a clarification of this for the safety of the

          9  populous, and for obvious reasons besides.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Council Member

         13  Lopez, who, by the way, on December 5th of 2000, I

         14  told you, this is something that's growing in the

         15  Council, everybody talks about this, asked the Legal

         16  Division of the City Council to support, to come up

         17  with some legislation like this, and for the record,

         18  she wants to read her findings.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I don't know if

         20  this problem is small, big, medium or large in the

         21  other boroughs, but I can testify to the Borough of

         22  Manhattan, and I can testify to the issue in my

         23  community, and particularly, in my district.

         24                 This is getting to a point that it's

         25  absolutely out of control, and somebody has to bring
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          2  some sense to this issue somehow, somewhere.

          3                 At the time that I requested my piece

          4  of legislation, I submitted a memorandum on support

          5  of my legislation that said the following:

          6  "Newspaper vendors are afforded constitutional

          7  protection under the First Amendment Free Speech

          8  Clause.

          9                 However, the law recognized time,

         10  place and manner restriction for reasons of public

         11  safety. The proliferation of newspaper box stands

         12  create a public safety hazard.

         13                 For example, some street corners have

         14  various newspaper box stands which interfere with

         15  the pedestrian traffic. Some stands are so high it

         16  impairs the pedestrian vision of oncoming traffic

         17  and specifically affecting individuals in the

         18  disabled community who are wheelchair bound.

         19                 In addition, many newspaper box

         20  stands are located near curb cuts on the street

         21  corner interfering with pedestrian traffic and

         22  endangering individuals who are wheelchair bound."

         23                 In my district, you see the high on

         24  that? People who are in their wheelchairs cannot see

         25  across the street. Cannot.
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          2                 You see this other stand in the floor

          3  in here? In my district this is a daily routine.

          4  People turn that into fire because they are made out

          5  of plastic.

          6                 In my district, those things are in

          7  the middle of the street because they are not

          8  permanently placed in an area. And on top of that,

          9  they are filthy. They are put there and abandoned by

         10  whoever puts them in there. There's no maintenance.

         11  There's no care for this street furniture.

         12                 Personally, I think that we should

         13  allow it to exist, but not in this manner.

         14                 And I don't think that the

         15  Constitution was written to allow people to make the

         16  street unsafe, filthy and inadequate for people to

         17  be able to walk on it.

         18                 And in conclusion, that's my opinion

         19  about this.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Thank you.

         21                 Council Member Rodriguez.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chair.

         24                 I have a couple of questions. And as

         25  I read 943 and 943-A, I realize that the changes
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          2  were only that some of the regulations that we have

          3  put in were excluded; can you tell me what led to us

          4  coming up with that conclusion?

          5                 I asked our staff and they said that

          6  the Administration asked for that.

          7                 MR. CUMMINGS: We think that the way

          8  to proceed is to use the rule promulgation process

          9  to put in the details of let's say clearances.

         10                 This has been an issue for several

         11  decades, and through the foresight of not only

         12  Commissioner Weinshall but the Chairman, we're here

         13  today on a bill. We think the flexibility that

         14  rule-making allows, as history proceeds, is a

         15  necessary.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Okay. I

         17  have another question.

         18                 With regard to, the Commissioner

         19  mentioned that when there is not enough space in a

         20  rack to all the periodicals that want to go on

         21  there, on the publications that want to go on there,

         22  there will be some kind of random access, and I'm

         23  concerned that possibly there will be a publication

         24  which some people find offensive, maybe Furlow's

         25  Daily (phonetic) or something like that, I don't
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          2  that that's a publication, but let's say somebody on

          3  Madison Avenue thinks that that's not a publication

          4  that they would want on their rack, how do we assure

          5  that the people of the City of New York have access

          6  to those publications which they think are important

          7  to them?

          8                 MR. CUMMINGS: We think that any rack

          9  has to be content neutral. There is of course the

         10  penal code that says that certain types of things

         11  can't be displayed publicly.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Yes, but

         13  let's say just politically unpopular at the time,

         14  whose going to make that determination? Whose going

         15  to decide whether or not certain publications can or

         16  cannot be part of the process, part of -- and I used

         17  Furlow's Daily because it's not that bad, but I know

         18  it could be something that could be, I don't know if

         19  such things exist, but the KKK Daily, so there may

         20  be people don't want that in their community, so if

         21  someone is controlling that box, they may control

         22  the, prevent people from getting access to that, and

         23  I just want to know how we're going to solve that?

         24                 MR. CUMMINGS: Number one, there is

         25  the option of a single rack, but I assume you're
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          2  talking about where multiracks are, where people

          3  have to go to the bid or the sponsor of a multirack,

          4  and they would have to be content neutral and if

          5  there's an oversubscription for available spaces

          6  there would be, you know, the random selection is

          7  basically a lottery. Every periodic time, it will be

          8  spelled out in rules, you have to tell everybody who

          9  wants to get in, go to some lot picking to get one

         10  of the available spaces.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: This is the

         12  second time I am hearing content neutral. Our

         13  attorney said the same thing. What does that mean,

         14  content neutral?

         15                 MR. CUMMINGS: It means that anybody

         16  administering a multirack isn't being able to judge

         17  based upon content.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: So they

         19  will just pick any way they feel like it?

         20                 MR. CUMMINGS: Oh, no, they will pick

         21  it an objective way.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Will we

         23  have rules for that? Will you have rules for that?

         24                 MR. CUMMINGS: Yes. There will be a

         25  rule in how you pick it and there will be no
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          2  censorship.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Okay.

          4                 Okay, thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 The next set of speakers I'm going to

          9  call, I'll do it as a group, if you don't mind, they

         10  represent the newspapers and publishers.

         11                 Senator Jerome Wilson. Diane Kennedy.

         12  George Freeman. Is Robert Kasner here? Are you an

         13  attorney also? Come up here also.

         14                 Okay, if we can begin. Anyone.

         15                 MR. WILSON: Mr. Chairman, members of

         16  the City Council, my name is Jerome Wilson.  I'm

         17  Counsel to the New York Newspaper Publishers

         18  Association. The New York Newspaper Publishers

         19  Association, its membership consists of the major

         20  daily newspapers in the entire State of New York.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Can I ask --

         22                 MR. WILSON: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I see here now you

         24  have a speech here that will take you a half our,

         25  the best thing we could do is, could you address the
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          2  issues instead of the long-winded statement and

          3  everything else? Any part of it I will put as part

          4  of the record.

          5                 I'm not trying to curtail your

          6  speech, but it's easier if I could have a dialogue,

          7  rather than just --

          8                 MR. WILSON: So, you want to do one

          9  issue and then we'll talk about it?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Do all the issues

         11  and then we'll get to --

         12                 MR. WILSON: Well, the first issue

         13  that the Publishers Association has a problem with

         14  is that it's very late in the day in this

         15  administration to do a very sensitive issue like

         16  this, and we very much regret the newspapers

         17  publishers, the affected party, the major affected

         18  party, and throughout its history the Council has

         19  certainly been sensitive to the importance of the

         20  free press in our society, and this thing is just

         21  suddenly thrust upon us and the clock is on the wall

         22  and it's ten minutes before midnight of this

         23  Administration and of this Council, that's one

         24  issue.

         25                 The second issue, and equally
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          2  serious, I'm not saying this is Clinton pardons or

          3  anything like that, I'm not saying that's what it

          4  is.

          5                 This is far too much discretion that

          6  a co-equal branch of government, namely the

          7  legislature of the City of New York, should give

          8  over to, as qualified and as sensitive as the

          9  current Transportation Commissioner is, to a Mayoral

         10  appointee. Because you should institutionally

         11  preserve your powers, and therefore there should be

         12  guideline to guide the regulations, because yours,

         13  as a sense of permanence, is far greater than the

         14  regulation. I'm not saying the regulation should be

         15  changed at a whim, but you know, who knows what the

         16  future might hold.

         17                 This is, I'm not going to say it's an

         18  insult, but it's certainly giving away a blank check

         19  in a very sensitive area, and I don't think you

         20  should do this.

         21                 And finally, addressing specifically

         22  the Giuliani Administration, it's really unclear to

         23  me personally and specifically to our Association,

         24  as to why the Mayor, who has been viewed in such a

         25  positive light, at this particular juncture would
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          2  want to go out on this kind of note.

          3                 I would like now to turn over our

          4  presentation to Diane Kennedy, who is the President

          5  of the New York Newspaper Publishers Association.

          6                 MS. KENNEDY: Good afternoon, Mr.

          7  Chairman, and members of the Committee. I would like

          8  to thank you for allowing us to come in and share

          9  our views with you on this issue.

         10                 I only learned of this legislation

         11  yesterday, so I won't be able to address the

         12  specifics of it to the extent that I would like to.

         13                 Upon hearing of this legislation, I

         14  was a little bit surprised, coming as it does less

         15  than three months after the terrible tragedy that

         16  affected New York City. As I'm sure you know, our

         17  member newspapers, which do include the New York

         18  Times, the Wall Street Journal, Newsday, and so on,

         19  met tremendous challenges, as everyone in this City

         20  did, to try to get through the tragedy.

         21                 The Wall Street Journal lost their

         22  newsroom, lost their corporate offices at 200

         23  Liberty Street, they were evacuated as the north

         24  tower was collapsing. Fortunately their people were

         25  able to escape without physical injury. New York
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          2  Times reporters and photographers risk their lives

          3  to serve the people of this City and provide them

          4  with all the information they could.

          5                 A personal friend of mine who is a

          6  news photographer for the Daily News was very, very

          7  seriously injured trying to do his job to the best

          8  of his ability and report for the people of this

          9  City what was going on.

         10                 All of those newspapers and all of

         11  their staff worked around the clock to try to keep

         12  the people of this City informed in a timely but

         13  very thorough way about what was going on.

         14                 So, it seems to me at this point in

         15  history in New York City that this is a very

         16  controversial issue that we divide organizations

         17  that are trained to help this City, at a time that

         18  maybe they should be pulling together a little bit

         19  more and put the controversies off until after the

         20  City has had more of an opportunity to heal.

         21  Particularly in light of some of the discussions

         22  that are going on in the City and in the country,

         23  and Councilman Rodriguez brought up some points that

         24  certainly I've thought quite a bit about since

         25  yesterday, which is that there are publications out
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          2  there who raised issues that are very unpopular at

          3  this time, or maybe other people in this City would

          4  rather not read, but in the interest of the First

          5  Amendment and helping this country emotionally, we

          6  need to be able to hear those viewpoints, whether

          7  they're popular or not.

          8                 And while the intent of maintaining

          9  public safety, as the Commissioner has spoken about,

         10  is tremendously important to New York City, I think

         11  that this legislation, as I read it, goes far beyond

         12  its stated intent.

         13                 I think the issue of allowing a

         14  private property owner to essentially monopolize the

         15  placement of a multiple vending news rack on an

         16  entire City block space, could shut out smaller

         17  publications.

         18                 I think that I would rather see some

         19  of the very narrowly tailored issues codified in

         20  statutes considered by the whole City Council,

         21  rather than seeing legislation that says that the

         22  Department of Transportation will promulgate

         23  regulations, trust us, we're going to do the right

         24  thing, but these discussions are going to take place

         25  in a closed forum, in a closed room, maybe over the
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          2  telephone where there can't be widespread public

          3  input into the development of these regulations.

          4  There are certainly constitution --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Just on that note,

          6  I want to correct you. There was a public hearing

          7  process. The regulation has to be formulated by

          8  somebody, but the Commissioner said you could sit

          9  down and help them formulate this, but the public is

         10  absolutely aware of it, there is a public forum

         11  process, a public hearing process as well.

         12                 MS. KENNEDY: I would just also like

         13  to point out, and I know George is going to address

         14  this further, the major newspapers in this City have

         15  been very cooperative about working with the

         16  Business Improvement District, the 34th Street

         17  Partnership and the Grand Central Partnership, to

         18  try to make sure that the news racks are placed in

         19  such a way that they don't impede public safety.

         20                 I would urge the Committee on

         21  Transportation to rethink enacting passing this

         22  legislation at this time, but to stand back and

         23  maybe have further discussions with the paper

         24  industry experts to see if there is a way to maybe

         25  craft something that's a bit more workable and more
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          2  narrow tailored.

          3                 MR. FREEMAN: Thank you. I'm George

          4  Freeman. I'm Assistant General Counsel for the New

          5  York Times, and I speak here not only for the Times,

          6  but also the Daily News, the New York Post, Newsday,

          7  The Village Voice, USA Today and the Wall Street

          8  Journal with respect to a proposed bill which would,

          9  after 17 years of working under a voluntary

         10  agreement with the City, all of a sudden bring

         11  statutory restriction to the distribution of

         12  newspapers in New York.

         13                 I think I'd be speaking for other

         14  publishers as well, had they been notified about

         15  this initiative; however, even though apparently the

         16  legislation has been in the works for months, the

         17  Administration only told us on Thanksgiving eve, and

         18  apparently hasn't told many of the publishers even

         19  to this day.

         20                 Newsday, for example, which has

         21  machines all over Queens, USA Today and Wall Street

         22  Journal have not been contacted by the City even to

         23  this moment.

         24                 Basically the current proposal I

         25  think is unnecessary, procedurally unfair and
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          2  unconstitutional. Let me talk about these three

          3  defects.

          4                 First, there is no need for this

          5  legislation. Placement and implementation of news

          6  vending machines in New York have, since 1984, been

          7  guided by a voluntary agreement with the City and

          8  the City publishers, which sets forth a fair balance

          9  between the interests involved.

         10                 As a result of a long series of

         11  negotiations with many of the City agencies,

         12  including the DOT, the Corporation Counsel's Office,

         13  the Public Works Department and others involved.

         14                 I remember long sessions with FAO

         15  Schwarz, then the Corporation Counsel, and others,

         16  negotiating these issues point by point.

         17                 So, perhaps it belies my age to admit

         18  that I was involved back in 1984, to the extent

         19  you're not aware of those voluntary agreements I

         20  have them with me, and you can have a copy, I will

         21  give them to you when I am done.

         22                 If you read them you will come to the

         23  conclusion I think that there is no need for

         24  anything more, that they fairly balance the interest

         25  of the City, the publishers and the public. Indeed
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          2  Mayor Koch said at that very time when they were

          3  signed, he said, and I quote, "We believe this

          4  agreement satisfies the legitimate needs of both the

          5  newspapers and the City. It is a good example of how

          6  problems can be solved and the government and the

          7  private sector work together."

          8                 To the extent, as I imagine, the

          9  drafters of this legislation are unaware of that,

         10  that itself is an indictment of this proposal. Why

         11  not study the present system before blindly coming

         12  up with something new? If the Administration or the

         13  Council believed these voluntary guidelines are not

         14  being implemented, that is a problem equally shared

         15  by all parties to the agreement.

         16                 For our part the publishers stand

         17  ready to meet with the City and its agencies to

         18  ensure the voluntary compliance, which we pledge

         19  when we sign this document. To be sure for years we

         20  haven't received any complaints from the City or

         21  from DOT about the placement or maintenance of our

         22  machines, but if we had we would have made all the

         23  necessary modifications. If indeed, rather than

         24  making these nice photographs, DOT had come to the

         25  publisher and said your machines are in a crosswalk,
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          2  we would move them.  I'm not sure why they haven't

          3  done that, but it seems to me that would be the

          4  logical way to deal with this problem, rather than

          5  to make nice photographs and come to the City

          6  Council hearing, why not deal with us directly and

          7  the problem would be resolved?

          8                 Second, one can't help but be

          9  suspicious about the political agenda going on here.

         10  The Times got wind of this on Thanksgiving Eve, most

         11  publishers only found out about it yesterday, and

         12  even that was a version of the legislation that now

         13  has been withdrawn.

         14                 Five years ago, when the Giuliani

         15  Administration, as part of its Street Furniture

         16  Initiative wanted to legislate both newstands and

         17  news vending machines, we again entered into a long

         18  series of negotiations and discussions with the

         19  City, including many hearings before the City

         20  Council and your Committee, at which time these

         21  issues were discussed.

         22                 I remember meeting after meeting with

         23  Deputy Mayor Fran Reiter regarding these issues.

         24                 Why now, in contrast to that

         25  cooperation, deliberative procedure, why are we
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          2  asked to come to a City Council hearing without any

          3  prior discussion and negotiation?

          4                 I understand there have been dome

          5  discussions between government officials and the

          6  Grand Central Partnership, but strangely, since

          7  we're after all dealing with our vending machines,

          8  how come we weren't ever called?

          9                 In sum, this is a direct antithesis

         10  of Mayor Koch's conclusion that this is an example

         11  of how problems can be solved when government and

         12  the private sector work together. Here, its worse

         13  than not working together, it's as if the City's

         14  publishers don't exist.

         15                 Even more bizarre is the timing. Why

         16  is this being proposed now one month before a new

         17  Administration takes office? Do we have idea where

         18  Mayor-elect Bloomberg stands on this issue - and one

         19  month before 80 percent of the City Council turns

         20  over.

         21                 What if the new Council and the new

         22  Mayor don't see the need for radical change and this

         23  bureaucratic oversight?

         24                 I don't profess to be an expert on

         25  the workings of City government, but I can say that
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          2  the lack of communication within the City and the

          3  publishers has been startling. The lack of notice of

          4  this hearing has been undue. The notion of beginning

          5  discussions about a significant topic as this on the

          6  eve of the departure of most of the Council and the

          7  Mayor seems highly strange.

          8                 Finally, we would submit that the law

          9  is unconstitutional, and that if enacted the City

         10  and public should be wrapped up in unnecessary

         11  litigation regarding this constitutionality for

         12  years, wasting the time and the resources none of us

         13  can really spend.

         14                 While I've just received this version

         15  24 hours ago, let me talk about two glaring

         16  Constitutional defects.

         17                 First, the law gives unfettered

         18  discretion to the Commissioner of Transportation to

         19  set up whatever rules she chooses as to the

         20  placement, size, construction, maintenance, and so

         21  on, of newsracks.

         22                 In other words, even as in as

         23  sensitive an area as protected speech, the Council

         24  would be allowing the Commissioner to do whatever

         25  she pleased subject to no standards whatsoever.
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          2                 The language says "Commissioner shall

          3  set forth by rule such requirements as he or she

          4  deems necessary" and that such rules may include

          5  rules about "shape, appearance, placement, material,

          6  construction and maintenance."

          7                 This sort of unbridled discretion to

          8  a city agency is simply not allowed, according to

          9  our highest courts including the United States

         10  Supreme Court in the Lakewood case - which struck

         11  down that city's ordinance for exactly this reason.

         12                 The Commissioner of Transportation

         13  may not have delegated to her such broad discretion

         14  in areas protected by the First Amendment. The

         15  Supreme Court has made this clear. And there is no

         16  doubt that the distribution of newspapers through

         17  vending machines is constitutionally protected,

         18  there are legions of legal precedents on that point.

         19                 Indeed, the New York Court of

         20  Appeals, our State's highest court, has said exactly

         21  these things in a case against the City of New York.

         22                 In a 1987 newspaper vending machine

         23  case, it held that First Amendment guarantees cover

         24  the distribution of newspapers as well as their

         25  content.
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          2                 Our state's highest court unanimously

          3  held that for New York City to be able to remove

          4  newsracks with "arbitrary discretion vested in some

          5  government authority" was improper, and that the

          6  City could not "allow an official to ban such

          7  distribution in his uncontrolled discretion."

          8                 Again, I'd like to point out any such

          9  legislation is unnecessary, since the current

         10  guidelines stipulate limitations with respect to all

         11  these matters.

         12                 In contrast to the agreement reached

         13  by all of us in the 1980s, this proposed legislation

         14  appears to be a unilateral attempt by the City

         15  Administration, without consultation or input by the

         16  publishers, to give a City Commissioner full

         17  discretion to ignore the agreements we've worked out

         18  in the past, and set up whatever restricted scheme

         19  she feels is appropriate. That's bad politics, it's

         20  bad policy and it's unconstitutional.

         21                 Moreover, the current law, to the

         22  extent it substantively tries to regulate anything

         23  and not just delegate that power to DOT, is

         24  unconstitutionally vague.

         25                 For example, it allows government on
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          2  its own, and presumably before a hearing is even

          3  held, to remove a newsrack because its location is

          4  or could be used for "other government use" or

          5  "where such newsrack unreasonably interferes with

          6  the use of polls, posts, traffic signs, signals,

          7  hydrants, mailboxes, or other objects at or near

          8  said location." While "unreasonably interferes" may

          9  be fine statutory language most of the time, it is

         10  not nearly specific enough when weighed against the

         11  Constitutional interests of free speech on the other

         12  side.

         13                 Even worse, the next section, 3(a),

         14  says that where "exigent circumstances" exist, not

         15  only the Commissioner, but any authorized officer or

         16  employee of a city agency or even a police officer

         17  or a clerk can give a publisher notice to remove a

         18  newsrack, and if a publisher doesn't remove it

         19  immediately, that city employee or officer is

         20  authorized to remove it unless an administrative

         21  proceeding has already been determined in its favor.

         22                 But since there are no time limits

         23  here, it seems highly unlikely that an

         24  administrative proceeding would begin and end prior

         25  to the time that such employee or officer might
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          2  choose to remove the newsrack.

          3                 More glaring still, is the fact that

          4  all this can happen upon "exigent circumstances"

          5  which are defined to include "unusually heavy

          6  pedestrian or vehicular traffic, "Whatever that may

          7  mean.

          8                 I don't know what it means, but it

          9  certainly is not the specificity required by the

         10  Supreme Court and by the Constitution in areas of

         11  free speech.

         12                 Indeed, in New York terms, unusually

         13  heavy pedestrian or traffic seems like a tautology -

         14  it is an on-going condition. So, to allow immediate

         15  removal of newsracks upon such "exigent

         16  circumstances" only underscores the Constitutional

         17  frailty of this proposal - and its fatal vagueness.

         18                 I have to say, Councilman, that my

         19  notes indicate that in 1997 on a similar hearing

         20  before a similar bill in front of you and your

         21  Committee, you indicated that you felt that such

         22  language was too broad and unconstitutionally vague,

         23  and suggested that meetings with publishers might be

         24  a more fruitful avenue to which to address this

         25  issue.
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          2                 I will just end with two points very

          3  quickly, and I appreciate your indulgence.

          4                 In the last 24 hours when I have

          5  looked into this, I have learned that since August

          6  1st of this year, the Times alone has voluntarily

          7  removed 273 newspaper vending machines from the New

          8  York City streets. That's about 25 percent of

          9  vending machines in New York that we have.

         10                 This was done simply because those

         11  machines weren't serving their intended purpose of

         12  distributing newspapers to the public. If the

         13  machines are not being used sufficiently, we have,

         14  and will, take them out. It doesn't serve any

         15  purpose and squanders scarce resources to keep

         16  newsracks that are selling, aren't distributing

         17  papers in place.

         18                 On the other hand, if they are

         19  serving the public, there should be no reason to

         20  remove them.

         21                 So the marketplace itself acts as a

         22  restrictive device here - again, another reason

         23  legislation is not needed.

         24                 Finally, I would just note that by

         25  asking you, and asking you to consider why at this
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          2  time in our history, when information concerning how

          3  New Yorkers should live their lives, and information

          4  about how to deal with the threats in our City about

          5  Anthrax, when the changing rules as to the use of

          6  bridges and tunnels have become a daily staple of

          7  our lives, when understanding what's going on in the

          8  rest of the world is more important than ever, and

          9  when information on which the base opinions about

         10  whether to agree or disagree with the federal

         11  government is doing is the only way for the citizens

         12  to responsibly carry out their role of democracy,

         13  why at this time had the City Administration seen

         14  fit to propose legislation that would limit the

         15  distribution of newspapers.

         16                 The Times sells over 10,000 copies a

         17  day through its vending machines. That means about

         18  20,000 New Yorkers use New York Times vending

         19  machines at least once a week.

         20                 I don't know the exact figures, but I

         21  would imagine between 50,000 to 100,000 New Yorkers

         22  use vending machines of one of the papers each week.

         23                 Indeed, the U.S. Supreme Court said

         24  that almost half of the single copy sales of

         25  newspapers in our country are now distributed by
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          2  newsracks. Thus, more than balancing whatever

          3  concerns you may have about pedestrian traffic, of

          4  which vending machines play an infinitesimal part,

          5  or aesthetics, where newspapers are only one iota of

          6  the color and clutter of our great urban landscape,

          7  the fact is that a huge number of New Yorkers are

          8  greatly convenienced by newspaper vending machines.

          9                 These numbers ought to weigh heavily

         10  on the Council's deliberations, indeed more heavily

         11  than special interest groups which may be interested

         12  in this legislation.

         13                 It is not true that publishers use

         14  newspapers as advertising. They are expensive to

         15  manufacture, they are expensive to maintain, and

         16  they perform a critical function for the newspapers.

         17  Because of their expense, if they don't fulfill

         18  their mission, we remove them.

         19                 The alternative would be for some New

         20  Yorkers to have to walk far longer to require their

         21  newspaper, inconveniencing many, particularly the

         22  aged, or to have many New Yorkers forego newspapers

         23  all together and make them less informed about the

         24  affairs of the day.

         25                 This is not good public policy for
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          2  the citizenry, or for the interested ensuring that

          3  newspapers in our City remain vibrant and strong.

          4                 Particularly at this time, where

          5  information about how we must live our lives, and

          6  that how we are faring vis-a-vis the rest of the

          7  world is more critical than any other time in our

          8  adult lives, I would urge you to rethink why this

          9  proposal - which is unnecessary, which has not been

         10  discussed with the key parties, and which is

         11  unconstitutional - should be enacted.

         12                 Thank you for your attention.

         13                 MS. COHEN: I'm Barbara Cohen. I'm the

         14  Senior Vice President of Village Voice Media, and I

         15  want to build on the comments of my newspaper

         16  colleagues.

         17                 As with George, I speak on behalf of

         18  not only the Village Voice, but also the New York

         19  Times, the Daily News, the New York Post, the Wall

         20  Street Journal, Newsday and the New York Observer.

         21                 While we publishers of course live

         22  and work in the City, and in any case serve our

         23  readers, share the City's interests in promoting

         24  public safety and aesthetics, we're surprised by the

         25  spirit of this draft ordinance. It completely
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          2  disregards constitutional protections for newsracks,

          3  all the way from the preamble, which does not even

          4  acknowledge that newsracks are protected by the

          5  First Amendment, but merely states that newspapers

          6  access to sidewalks, "should not be absolutely

          7  denied" because of what's described as historical

          8  factors, and that disregard for constitutional

          9  protections to the vague and overbroad provisions

         10  empowering City officials and employees to wield

         11  enormous discretion over the placement and removal

         12  of newsracks on the City's sidewalks, the

         13  archetypical public forum.

         14                 In fact, the draft legislation

         15  accords less deference to newsracks than to public

         16  toilets and the like, which of course are not

         17  constitutionally protected, unlike newsracks.

         18                 Thus, Section 2 provides that upon

         19  some unspecified notice an opportunity to be heard,

         20  the Commissioner of Transportation may issue an

         21  order requiring the removal of a newsrack, among

         22  other things, if a location is to be used for any

         23  "government use, franchise or concession."

         24                 But as George has noted, the U.S.

         25  Supreme Court in its 1993 decision of City of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            52

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  Lakewood versus Plain Dealer, recognized not on the

          3  press' right to distribute newspapers through

          4  newsracks, but the public's right to thereby acquire

          5  information. And it declared that the liberty of

          6  circulating is as essential to freedom of expression

          7  as liberty of publishing. Indeed without the

          8  circulation, the publication would be of little

          9  value.

         10                 This draft legislation removes the

         11  City Council's legislative authority, and without

         12  any clear guidelines, vests enormous discretion in a

         13  mayoral appointee, the Commissioner of

         14  Transportation, to promulgate rules and enforce the

         15  law and the rules he or she has then promulgated.

         16                 So, Section 2(c) provides that the

         17  Commissioner will set forth whatever rules he or she

         18  deems necessary, and as George noted, includes such

         19  potentially sensitive matters as placement,

         20  maintenance, size, et cetera.

         21                 The City Council is thereby deprived

         22  of its traditional authority to legislate in this

         23  area, and all such authority, with at best illusory

         24  constraints is assigned instead to the Commissioner

         25  of Transportation who serves at the Mayor's
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          2  pleasure.

          3                 In addition to the Commissioner's

          4  broad discretion, as George noted, distressed

          5  ordinance allows the Commissioner and his or her

          6  unspecified designees, and any employee of any City

          7  agency, at least as I read it, or any police

          8  officer, on completely unspecified notice, to remove

          9  a newsrack, or if he or she deems there to be

         10  exigent circumstances, which as George noted, is

         11  virtually limitless in its definition, at best it's

         12  vague.

         13                 And, again, as George noted, in the

         14  Supreme Court in its 1988 Decision in City of

         15  Lakewood, struck down just such an ordinance. It

         16  vested too much discretion in that case in the

         17  City's Mayor, with the authority to grant or deny

         18  newsrack permit applications without explicit limits

         19  on the Mayor's discretion, the Court reasoned that

         20  vesting such unbridled discretion in a governmental

         21  official, "could result in either content or

         22  viewpoint censorship." And I think that Council

         23  Member Rodriguez asked questions pertaining to that

         24  concern.

         25                 While the enormous discretion that's
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          2  vested in potentially any City employee would be

          3  problematic enough, the problem is compounded by

          4  insufficient and only after the fact provision for a

          5  procedural report, if it, as it turns out, this

          6  enormous discretion is wielded improperly.

          7                 I would conclude by saying that with

          8  all due respect to the Commissioner, it appears that

          9  this proposed law would provide truly excessive

         10  discretion to a Mayoral appointee, and effectively

         11  deprive the Council of its legislative authority in

         12  a very sensitive area at a very sensitive time, and

         13  it goes far beyond any legitimate time, place and

         14  manner in the legislation that would survive

         15  constitutional scrutiny.

         16                 However, we publishers welcome the

         17  opportunity to work with the City, local businesses,

         18  and interested citizens to accommodate safety and

         19  aesthetic concerns without infringing on the press

         20  and the public First Amendment Rights.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Do you have a

         23  statement?

         24                 MR. KASNER: Good afternoon. I'm

         25  Robert Kasner, the Vice President of Circulation for
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          2  Village Voice Media, Inc.

          3                 Newsracks or street boxes represent

          4  50 percent of the Village Voice's circulation, an

          5  average of 125,000 copies per week.

          6                 During the last five months, the

          7  Voice has invested more than $150,000 to full

          8  replace our old boxes with new ones.

          9                 The Voice gets more than 2,000 calls

         10  each year from readers who can't find our paper,

         11  can't locate a newsbox or other outlet.

         12                 They're our readers, but your voters,

         13  citizens of New York, many of whom request a box be

         14  located near their neighborhood.

         15                 We get fewer than ten calls each year

         16  requesting that one of our boxes be moved away from

         17  its location. Because they seem reasonable requests

         18  mostly, we respond by moving the box.

         19                 Many are linked to street repair

         20  construction projects, some are police requests,

         21  like the one last week from the 21st Precinct for

         22  the parade. We complied.

         23                 We invest in a weekly box cleaning

         24  schedule, and we respond to citizen complaints to

         25  reinspect and repair boxes, and by addressing the
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          2  delivery performance of that driver.

          3                 Grand Central Partnership is an

          4  example of a well-funded, well managed project for

          5  multiracks, pictures support that.

          6                 I can supply pictures of multirack

          7  installations that are in ruin in SanFransico.

          8  Pictures are easy.

          9                 In summary, the Voice tries to be a

         10  good neighbor and we try to be reasonable, we ask

         11  that the City do likewise, but this bill gives

         12  unfettered discretion to the Commissioner and a

         13  large number of City employees.

         14                 It opens the door to capricious

         15  obstruction of our rights.

         16                 In its present form, due to

         17  unspecified rules and limits, it's difficult to make

         18  more specific comment. We oppose.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Thank you.

         20                 Council Member Lopez.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I want to

         22  clarify that I am not in favor of this particular

         23  legislation. I just got it today and I'm reading it

         24  today for the first time.

         25                 The second thing I want to clarify. I
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          2  requested a legislation to be drafted for me in

          3  December 2000 in base of this issue, and I did ask

          4  that that legislation be drafted, like you can

          5  imagine, that it never happened.

          6                 Now, let me ask you a couple of

          7  questions for you to understand what is my problem

          8  in my district, where I receive at least five calls

          9  every week about this issue, from pedestrian and for

         10  people who live in my district.

         11                 I am concerned about the

         12  constitutional rights of the media to inform the

         13  public. I am concerned with that constitutional

         14  right because that's what got anti-government (sic)

         15  to function adequately, and that should be protected

         16  under every circumstance.

         17                 The issue here is not the

         18  constitutional right to inform the public. The issue

         19  here is how that is maintained. That is the issue.

         20                 And your particular organizations

         21  have a responsibility over that. You have stated

         22  here that you got to an agreement voluntarily to do

         23  so.

         24                 I'm informing you right now, each and

         25  every one of you, it is not being fulfilled. These
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          2  pieces of furniture are constantly, constantly, at

          3  least in my district, left to whoever. And I want

          4  you to explain to me, each and every one of your

          5  outlets, how is it that your institution take care

          6  of your particular outlet on the street? Tell me who

          7  is in charge, what department? What is the

          8  allocation of funding that you have for the people

          9  who take care of this? Who maintains them? Who keeps

         10  them clean? Who keeps them from being fired, because

         11  people put them on fire. Who maintained them not to

         12  be thrown in the middle of the street? What is the

         13  procedure that you have? And if you have that

         14  procedure, please give it to me in writing and tell

         15  me what people are in charge. Because in my district

         16  it is not happening. That's my question.

         17                 MR. FREEMAN: Let me try to answer

         18  that in two ways, if I could.

         19                 The first way is that I think you're

         20  right, that both the newspapers and the City deserve

         21  some blame for the current situation where you have

         22  newsracks that are clearly violating the agreement

         23  we made. But if you get five complaints a week, and

         24  if you would forward those complaints to either the

         25  newspapers or to DOT who would then talk to us, we
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          2  would address them.

          3                 Just like Mr. Kasner said the Voice

          4  does, if we get complaints from a City agency, no

          5  matter what agency it may be, that our machines are

          6  not in compliance, either because they're in the

          7  middle of a crosswalk or to curve cuts or they're

          8  lying, thrown in the street, we will do something

          9  about that.

         10                 We have pledged in our agreement to

         11  meet the stipulations and restrictions that we agree

         12  to. All we need now --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But tell me

         14  what it is that you do now.

         15                 I understand that you have an

         16  agreement, and I want a copy of that agreement.

         17                 MR. FREEMAN: I have an agreement,

         18  yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And I want a

         20  copy of that agreement because I tell you, I asked

         21  these questions and nobody could tell me in the City

         22  that that agreement exists.

         23                 MR. FREEMAN: I have the agreement

         24  here for you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am very
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          2  grateful to you to talk to me about an agreement

          3  that exists.

          4                 Now, I just need to know, in all

          5  honesty, I want to work with you, but I want you to

          6  work with me. I want you to work with me on my

          7  community, who is sick and tired of this situation.

          8  Who is in charge in the Voice? Who is in charge on

          9  the Post, who write a lot of editorials against me.

         10  And I don't have no problem, keep writing editorial

         11  against me, and it's fine with me. I don't have no

         12  problem, that maintains democratic (sic) in process,

         13  but tell me who is in charge in your organization,

         14  what is the name of the person who goes outside and

         15  checks your pieces that are kept in place, and kept

         16  in place in order to serve the public, not to become

         17  a nuisance.

         18                 MS. COHEN: Mr. Kasner, who spoke

         19  earlier today, is eventually in charge. There are

         20  two-- there is an individual, an employee of the

         21  Voice who is directly in charge.

         22                 I would assume that at each of these

         23  papers the answer to your question is going to be

         24  the Circulation Department is the group which you

         25  would speak.
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          2                 We have independent contractors to

          3  whom we have contracted this job, and we spend

          4  thousands and thousands of dollars every year

          5  maintaining the boxes.

          6                 I personally call Bob, you know, from

          7  my cell phone on the streets to say, you know, the

          8  box on such and such corner, the door is coming off,

          9  and he'll send somebody out there that day and pull

         10  it.

         11                 They get a complaint from anybody and

         12  they take care of it.

         13                 I think that the problem may be with

         14  some of -- I think there was a reference earlier to

         15  fly-by-night businesses, I don't know if I would

         16  necessarily agree with that description for all of

         17  them, but I think that a lot of new-comers may not

         18  even be aware of this agreement that is out there.

         19                 I know that when I first started

         20  working at the Voice, I worked with Bob's

         21  predecessor and I remember new businesses coming to

         22  us and saying what are the rules, and we shared this

         23  with them.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then who

         25  enforced this rule?
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          2                 MR. FREEMAN: Well, I think the issue

          3  is that the rules are not enforced well enough. I

          4  think that's something that we share the blame on.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But who? Just

          6  tell me.

          7                 MR. FREEMAN: The Department of

          8  Transportation on the City's side.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

         10                 MR. FREEMAN: And the Department of

         11  Circulation, as Barbara said, on the side of the

         12  newspapers.

         13                 You know, I think, as Chairman Dear

         14  and you have mentioned, if the problem is of the

         15  so-called fly-by-night operation, the businesses

         16  that are advertising by virtue of putting up some

         17  sort of machines --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I don't think

         19  that was the case.

         20                 MR. FREEMAN: That's what was

         21  indicated earlier, there is a way of addressing that

         22  also, you know --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Let me clarify.

         24                 In my district, and I only come to

         25  speak about my district, I'm sorry I cannot speak
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          2  for the rest of the City, you know, but in my

          3  district it is a consistent presence.

          4                 Do you see that photo that is in

          5  there? The Voice, the Village Voice, the Blade, the

          6  Newsday, the Times, those are the consistent group

          7  of people that are in there all the time.

          8                 I don't see furniture on the street

          9  to change every other month. It's usually a group of

         10  characters and it's always seven, six of them.

         11  Always.

         12                 Then in my case it's not people who

         13  come and go, it's the regular outlets of

         14  information.

         15                 MS. COHEN: Can I respectfully say

         16  that even in these pictures here there are plenty of

         17  businesses that have nothing to do with the New York

         18  Times, the Village Voice, the Wall Street --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I know. But you

         20  see the red one in here that is the Voice?

         21                 MS. COHEN: I don't know that that's

         22  the Voice. That is not the Voice.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: In the middle.

         24                 MS. COHEN: That's not the Voice.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: In the middle.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  Look in the middle, it says the Voice right there.

          3  That's what I'm saying.

          4                 MS. COHEN: It's not blocking the

          5  crosswalk.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But let me

          7  clarify something to you. I am not interested in

          8  discussing that photo. It's just a photo in there.

          9  My problem is not that photo. My problem is that I

         10  have that all over the district, and then when this

         11  is not maintained, and taken care, that's where the

         12  problem begins, and I want to know, how do you

         13  enforce it? Who do you send to enforce it? Do you

         14  check in the person who has the contract to keep

         15  this for you? Because if you're paying them, I have

         16  news for you, they are stealing the money because

         17  they are not doing the job.

         18                 MR. FREEMAN: I think in terms of

         19  maintenance, they are checking it, and if something

         20  is lying in the street and if something looks rusty

         21  and old, it's their responsibility to fix it and to

         22  tell us.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I invite you to

         24  walk on the streets of my district. I invite you to

         25  go corner by corner and check your outlet. Find it
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          2  by yourself. I'm not inventing this.

          3                 MR. FREEMAN: No, no. But if you have

          4  complaints that specific machines are not where they

          5  are supposed to be, then let us know and we'll move

          6  them. We always have moved them.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: How about you

          8  begin placing telephone numbers, name of the person

          9  responsible to enforce the cleanliness of your

         10  machines in those machines. How about that?

         11                 MR. FREEMAN: I believe it is on the

         12  machines, Council member.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Not there.

         14                 MR. FREEMAN: I believe it is.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It's not there.

         16  I mean, I tried to find out who to call to fix this

         17  problem, and I went to nowhere. That's the reason I

         18  requested it.

         19                 MS. COHEN: I think that's a

         20  reasonable -- when we talk about that we'd like to

         21  work together with you, that seems like an

         22  absolutely reasonable request, it's something -- no

         23  publisher, I can imagine, has any trouble with, and

         24  we live in the City, too, and we're serving our

         25  readers, we don't want people to be unhappy with us,
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          2  nor do we want to see blight in the City.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I believe you.

          4                 MS. COHEN: That's the kind of thing

          5  that we would be absolutely willing to work with you

          6  and to do. And we're here to listen to your concerns

          7  also, but this hasn't been the process that's in

          8  some ways been described where there has been a back

          9  and forth. There was a discussion four years ago

         10  about newsracks, but nothing since then.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And you are

         12  right on that. I just wanted to clarify my position.

         13                 I hope that you understand with this

         14  interest change, what is my concern about this.

         15                 It doesn't have nothing to do with

         16  regulating the capacity of newspapers to speak and

         17  to inform the public. I think the more the better,

         18  to inform the public. But something has to be done

         19  about this situation. And you have to recognize that

         20  something is wrong about it.

         21                 MR. WILSON: Mr. Chairman, can I make

         22  a comment to that?

         23                 It seems to me that the City and the

         24  Council is at a crossroads. The crossroads, you can

         25  pass legislation, it will be challenged in the
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          2  court, there will be an injunction and nothing will

          3  happen, and you'll have this kind of law on your

          4  heads.

          5                 Or the other is to sit down with the

          6  publishers, amend the agreement. I challenge you, as

          7  much as I respect your point of view, to tell me

          8  where daily newspaper publishers, their racks are so

          9  empty that they use it as fireplaces. I don't think

         10  that's the case. It's the empty plastic newsstands

         11  that are the basic problem. For that we should also

         12  negotiate.

         13                 Did you understand what I'm saying?

         14  In other words, show me a photograph of a New York

         15  Times newsrack that is so empty it has got a fire in

         16  it. I just respectfully don't think --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I cannot speak

         18  no more. Somebody else has to speak.

         19                 MR. WILSON: Oh, I'm sorry.

         20                 You have done very well so far. I

         21  just think --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: When words are put

         23  into your mouth.

         24                 MR. WILSON: We have to work and it's

         25  like this, and I think we should go cooperatively,
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          2  and I think you will find this industry quite

          3  reasonable to listen to and to move forward

          4  together.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Council Member

          6  Freed.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you.

          8                 And Jerry, I'll take you to one five

          9  blocks from here, and it will be a major newspaper,

         10  and I will show you not only that, but the fact that

         11  it hasn't been cleaned out since September 11th in

         12  some cases, where we've still got the dust and the

         13  asbestos in it.

         14                 I mean --

         15                 MR. WILSON: Why don't you name names?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: What?

         17                 MR. WILSON: Why don't you name names.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: I'll take you

         19  there.

         20                 The problem is with your voluntary

         21  initiatives, whatever, they don't work. They haven't

         22  worked for us.

         23                 You know, the only thing that I see

         24  is that, five years ago you knew, or should have

         25  heard, there were massive amounts of people in this
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          2  City who were very unhappy with the placement of

          3  these boxes all over the place, and that unhappiness

          4  didn't go away just because you didn't talk about it

          5  for five years. In fact, that should have been, you

          6  know, that should have been a bellwether for you to

          7  tell you that you should have gone out and looked at

          8  the placement and done something about it. All I

          9  noticed that happened is we got more of these ugly

         10  plastic things that are all chained to this pole and

         11  that pole, that block the handicap access ramps,

         12  that are a disaster, and it's not all the way

         13  downtown, Lower Manhattan, that we, prior to

         14  September 11th, and it's coming back, is the fact

         15  that we've always had massive amount of foot

         16  traffic, they block everything. They were almost

         17  dangerous when you have like five or six of these

         18  boxes blocking people's access to the streets and to

         19  try and cross, but in addition to that, it's like,

         20  you know, you also had them in historic districts,

         21  where privately-owned buildings had to comply to all

         22  kinds of codes, and, yet, we saw all this

         23  multi-colored boxes, you know, a tilt and blocking

         24  things, and they were always there, half the time

         25  they were used for garbage, you know, and, yes, it
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          2  was some of the dailies as well. I mean, it's a

          3  disaster. You should have gotten a hint five years

          4  ago there was a problem.

          5                 Now, this bill was introduced in

          6  February, so, you know, you had a few months since

          7  then to come back and look at this. And you know, I

          8  have to tell you, the problem really to me, it seems

          9  it isn't that you can't have access to these

         10  multi-tiered boxes, it seems to me it's a question

         11  of who gets the best slot. And that's about money.

         12  That's not about freedom of the press, and that's

         13  not about First Amendment freedom. And it rings a

         14  little hollow up here, that everyone all of a

         15  sudden, because we are bringing this up again,

         16  you're getting very concerned about, well, why

         17  didn't someone tell us? The truth is, people quit

         18  telling you because after five or ten years you

         19  weren't listening anyway, so they quit mentioning

         20  it, they just complained about it.

         21                 MR. FREEMAN: I think --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: You know,

         23  there's not one district in the City that isn't

         24  angry and upset about these boxes. There just isn't.

         25  And if you haven't heard that, you haven't been
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          2  listening. It isn't that people haven't been saying

          3  that.

          4                 So, while, yes, there might be a few

          5  questions about this bill, I think most of them can

          6  be very easily worked out, but honestly, you know,

          7  if you're in a position right now that you're

          8  unhappy about, you have only yourselves to thank for

          9  it.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 MS. COHEN: During these past four

         12  years, my reference was to the fact that there was

         13  no discussion between the City per se, we actively

         14  were involved in ongoing conversations with various

         15  neighborhood organizations, and we just recently

         16  were in front of the Times Square BID, and

         17  neighborhoods come to us, we talk, and we try to

         18  work out their concerns.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: That's if they

         20  can figure out where to come to.

         21                 MS. COHEN: Well -- and then also, you

         22  talk about not having heard complaints, the

         23  complaints we have heard very vocally, and Mr.

         24  Kasner spoke to this, is from readers, this City's

         25  citizenry, who can't find the papers.
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          2                 And in terms of the multiracks, I

          3  think this was brought up the last time legislation

          4  was proposed in 1997, while this works in certain

          5  areas, for example, the Grand Central Partnership,

          6  where there is a lot of money, they are very

          7  expensive to maintain, and we have photographs which

          8  we would be happy to provide to you of what really

          9  happens with these multiracks in neighborhoods where

         10  there isn't so much money behind it, they become

         11  really serious dangers. There are empty doors come

         12  off, garbage --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Just like we

         14  now have anyway.

         15                 MS. COHEN: Well, you may have some

         16  issues with individual corporations, and I don't

         17  doubt that, but once you install multiracks, if you

         18  have somebody who is not living up to their

         19  responsibility, then what you're going to have is

         20  something that is built into the ground with the

         21  door off. We'll provide you with the pictures.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  All right. But

         23  I would suggest that, what, there's an obvious, in

         24  this bill there is a way to deal with that. The DOT

         25  Commissioner can look at it and say they're not
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          2  living up to their obligations, they're out of

          3  there, bring someone else in who will live up to

          4  their obligation. That's an easy one. And obviously,

          5  the answer to that is, you know, maintain your

          6  boxes.

          7                 MS. COHEN: But that's part of the

          8  problem. If it's so easy for the Commissioner to say

          9  they're not living up to their obligation, get rid

         10  of them, you know, the Commissioner could say, I

         11  didn't like what they wrote last week, I'm going to

         12  say --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: You know, with

         14  all due respect, that's just not going to happen. I

         15  mean, that's ludicrous, I'm sorry.

         16                 MS. COHEN: This is what the Supreme

         17  Court recognized in the Lakewood case as the problem

         18  with this type of legislation which vests too much

         19  discretion in a governmental official, that it does

         20  open up the possibility of content and viewpoint

         21  discrimination, and that is exactly the problem that

         22  the Supreme Court has noted, and which is one of the

         23  many ways in which this particular legislation is

         24  infirm.

         25                 I am completely in favor, as are my
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          2  colleagues in the publishing world, with working

          3  with the City to fix whatever is broken.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Where have you

          5  been for five years? I'm really sorry, but --

          6                 MS. COHEN: We've been talking to

          7  BIDs, we've been talking to neighborhood

          8  organizations --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Not mine.

         10                 MS. COHEN: Well, if --

         11                 MR. FREEMAN: Where has DOT been? I

         12  mean, we haven't heard -- we have never not reacted

         13  and modified based on a complaint from a City

         14  agency. So, if the Department of Transportation,

         15  rather than sitting down and enacting new

         16  legislation, would call us and say New York Times,

         17  your machine on Sixth Avenue and 42nd Street is in a

         18  crosswalk, it should be there, it would be out of

         19  there the next day.

         20                 That seems like a more collegial and

         21  more productive way to go than to start enacting and

         22  fighting about a whole new statutory scheme.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: If that had

         24  worked, I doubt that we would be here today.

         25                 MR. FREEMAN: Well, that's because the
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          2  Government never addressed the problem and never

          3  came to us and said move this machine or move that

          4  machine.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: You know, you

          6  can't have it both ways. Either you are going to

          7  work with the communities, or you're going to work

          8  with the government, now we're suggesting a way that

          9  the government can work with you and have at least

         10  have a process where communities who are unhappy at

         11  least know where to go and try and get some redress.

         12                 Right now under the current system we

         13  don't have redress.

         14                 MR. FREEMAN: They can go to the

         15  government now, go to DOT, DOT can give us a list of

         16  machines they think are not in compliance and we

         17  will move them.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: It's not been

         19  working.

         20                 MR. FREEMAN: Because they've never

         21  done that. DOT has never done that. They have never

         22  come to us with a list of machines, these are

         23  machines which are in a crosswalk, they are in

         24  violation of the guidelines that we agreed to,

         25  please move them.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: How does that

          3  differ from this bill?

          4                 MR. FREEMAN: Who knows what the

          5  restrictions in the bill would be. We don't even

          6  know what the bill is going to say yet.

          7                 That's why I wonder how you can enact

          8  a bill where you don't even know what the

          9  restrictions will be.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: You know that

         11  we can't put in any standard. No one can put in a

         12  standard that is anything but content neutral.

         13                 MR. FREEMAN: Well, that's true, but

         14  they can put in a lot of restrictions in terms of

         15  location that are basically going to try to restrict

         16  the number of machines, and the visibility of

         17  machines, and where they are now.

         18                 We argued about this and negotiated

         19  about it for a year back in 1984, so we have the

         20  agreement in place.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: And this

         22  agreement isn't working.

         23                 MS. COHEN: In other cities, our

         24  company has worked in Minnesota, in Minneapolis, in

         25  Los Angeles we're currently working with the City, a
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          2  whole consortium of newspapers as a result of those

          3  cases, and in other areas, to work through whether

          4  legislation is ultimately passed or there is a

          5  voluntary agreement. We have worked these out. It is

          6  possible to come up with --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Do theirs work

          8  better than ours?

          9                 MS. COHEN: Yes, they're working now.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Why doesn't it

         11  work here?

         12                 MR. COHEN: As George has said,

         13  perhaps, you know, we share the blame. I don't know

         14  of the DOT ever coming to us with specific problems.

         15  About a month ago at the Times Square BID, we asked

         16  for specific, as George pointed out, corners, tell

         17  us where the problems are and we will fix them, we

         18  will address them. They don't have that information.

         19  They generally just say, we don't like it, it's

         20  ugly.

         21                 But where we have the information we

         22  need in order to take action, we take action.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: I think the

         24  problem is you're asking a lot of the communities to

         25  do the policing themselves, and they shouldn't have
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          2  to do that, you should have had that responsibility,

          3  your voluntary agreement should have put the onus on

          4  you and I think we're here today because you didn't

          5  live up to it.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Okay, Council

          8  Member Rodriguez.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: I have a

         10  few questions, and I may be taking a couple of steps

         11  back.

         12                 So, if there is an agreement that

         13  exists that either Councilwoman Lopez or myself have

         14  ever heard about, what does this agreement say with

         15  regard to where these boxes can go?

         16                 MR. FREEMAN: It says, for example,

         17  they can't go in a crosswalk or in a curb cut. To

         18  that extent I think newsracks in these pictures are

         19  in violation of that agreement.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: The Village

         21  Voice is in violation of one, from what I see here.

         22  And I'm not trying to pick on anyone.

         23                 MR. FREEMAN: Yes, I think you're

         24  right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: So, the
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          2  question is, why don't we just -- tell me what else

          3  it says, go ahead.

          4                 MR. FREEMAN: And it says that I

          5  believe in a corner quadrant area there can't be

          6  vending machines unless there is other street

          7  furniture in that quadrant area. Corner quadrant

          8  area being defined by the building lines, cutting

          9  across a corner. And they can't be, I don't know,

         10  within X feet of a fire hydrant, or X feet I think

         11  inside a bus stop, the length of a bus stop, et

         12  cetera. I handed it out to the Council, I don't know

         13  the others offhand. But those are the key location

         14  ones.

         15                 What we're afraid of, quite frankly,

         16  is that the Department of Transportation is going to

         17  make them far more restrictive than the restrictions

         18  we agreed to then. In fact, Mr. Cummings said that

         19  they're thinking of saying not only can't they be in

         20  the crosswalk, they can't be in the corner quadrant

         21  area and they can't be ten feet beyond the corner

         22  quadrant area. And then, if you move them out that

         23  far, you come to the next regulation, you can't be

         24  near a bus stop, you can't be near a fire hydrant,

         25  and you end up moving them to the middle of the
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          2  block, and in the middle of the block they're not

          3  fulfilling their function of distributing papers.

          4  So, the problem is --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Well,

          6  they're fulfilling their function, they're just not

          7  doing it in an efficient way.

          8                 MR. FREEMAN: Because not as many

          9  people walk there, not as many people will get the

         10  papers.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Right.

         12                 MR. FREEMAN: That's right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Right.

         14                 MR. FREEMAN: So, if there has to be

         15  legislation, at least it should be the legislation

         16  in the specifics we agreed upon, rather than it

         17  being an opportunity for the City to broaden all the

         18  restrictions, which result in less number of

         19  newspapers distributed.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: I'm

         21  inclined to think that some of the arguments you

         22  made are accurate, okay, so that's why I'm trying to

         23  get to some of the points.

         24                 That New York Times one there, is

         25  that within the guidelines, you think?
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          2                 MR. FREEMAN: I think it is because

          3  it's not --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Not in the

          5  crosswalk.

          6                 MR. FREEMAN: The red and the yellow

          7  one are not in the crosswalk. I'm proud to say that

          8  the blue one is outside the crosswalk.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Right.

         10                 MR. FREEMAN: So, therefore, that

         11  would be okay, yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: And that

         13  furniture doesn't --

         14                 MR. FREEMAN: If there's a garbage can

         15  there, that would in fact allow it to be in the

         16  corner quadrant area, because there's other street

         17  furniture there anyhow.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Right.

         19  Okay.

         20                 MR. FREEMAN: And I'll notice that the

         21  garbage can is more in the crosswalk and more to the

         22  center of the intersection than the Times --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: I just

         24  wanted to make sure I understood. Okay.

         25                 MR. FREEMAN: Yes, right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Next

          3  question, and I'll agree with you on something and

          4  I'll disagree with Council Member Lopez, that I

          5  think that probably the dailies, from looking at

          6  these pictures, are more responsible than some of

          7  these other publications.

          8                 So, my question is, the people at the

          9  table today are the ones that are probably ready,

         10  willing and able to try to come up with an

         11  agreement. But there are other people who are not at

         12  the table, so maybe they're in the audience right

         13  now, that we may not have the ability to sit down

         14  and talk to them and say let's agree on these

         15  things.

         16                 How do we get them to come into the

         17  fold and agree with whatever it is you're suggesting

         18  happens?

         19                 MR. FREEMAN: I believe, I can't

         20  promise, but I believe that if you were to say, if

         21  you can get, whoever, the learning annex or the real

         22  estate flyer to agree to the agreement you agreed to

         23  New York Times in 1984, we can then all live by

         24  that, I bet we can get those people to the table to

         25  agree to those stipulations.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: I think

          3  that's the argument that you're hearing from us and

          4  that we're making.

          5                 MR. FREEMAN: I think we could help

          6  you resolve that, because I think we can put some

          7  pressure on our smaller colleagues to agree to these

          8  reasonable guidelines that we agreed to in 1984, and

          9  if we all, the major publishers, agreed to them, my

         10  bet is that the smaller publishers would agree as

         11  well.

         12                 MS. COHEN: That's exactly what

         13  happened, by the way, in Minnesota -- excuse me, Los

         14  Angeles, where we were able to very effectively get

         15  the involvement of the smaller publishers, as a sort

         16  of consortium.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And I

         18  just have one question. You made an argument with

         19  regard to the constitutionality of this, and the

         20  question was, and my question is, you would probably

         21  know this because you referred to Los Angeles and

         22  Minneapolis and other cities, are there any other

         23  cities in America in which they've regulated them

         24  and it's worked?

         25                 Let's start with that first. Are
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          2  there any other cities in America where they've

          3  regulated newsstands? Do any of you know?

          4                 MS. COHEN: Yes.

          5                 MR. FREEMAN: Yes, there are. And in

          6  some --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: And is it

          8  constitutional there?

          9                 MR. FREEMAN: I mean, I've been

         10  involved in San Francisco. In San Francisco there

         11  has been litigation that has cost both the City and

         12  the newspapers millions of dollars.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Has that

         14  been resolved?

         15                 MR. FREEMAN: It's not been resolved.

         16  It's now under negotiation and it's close to a

         17  settlement. Frankly, there's been so much paper on

         18  it I've stopped reading it, because it's 3,000 miles

         19  away and I can't spend the time on it, so I don't

         20  even know where they are. But I know that they both

         21  spent over a million dollars in legal fees dealing

         22  with all the legal aspects of that.

         23                 MS. COHEN: Whereas in Minnesota where

         24  there was this cooperation between the City and the

         25  publisher, there is an ordinance in place, and to
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          2  the best of my knowledge, it's working. It's been in

          3  place for about a year.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Regulations

          5  on how it works.

          6                 MS. COHEN: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: So, you're

          8  saying that, the only thing you're saying is that

          9  the regulations were as a result of conversation,

         10  and that we, so you're not really opposed to

         11  regulation, you're just saying that this regulation

         12  is not good because we haven't had the proper

         13  conversation?

         14                 MS. COHEN: Right. It doesn't

         15  accommodate First Amendment interests.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Let me ask

         17  you another question. Do you see this one here, with

         18  the Grand Central Partnership, those are all paid

         19  publications?

         20                 MS. COHEN: No. They also --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: They got

         22  the free, so you would be able to put your

         23  publication in there?

         24                 MS. COHEN: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Okay.
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          2                 MS. COHEN: And we do.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Okay, thank

          4  you very much.

          5                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Just to talk about

          7  the argument that there will be an exchange of hats

          8  between Council members. I had an opportunity to

          9  read through the regulation, and in your own

         10  agreement, that Broadway and SoHo, and the Sixth

         11  Avenue where you claim Sixth Avenue is 57th Street,

         12  you're in violation of your own agreement there.

         13                 MS. COHEN: And that may very well be.

         14  You know, boxes can get moved by other publishers,

         15  et cetera, and when that happens we remove them.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: It's there. So,

         17  let's see how long -- I will go back, I will ask the

         18  City Council Investigative Unit to go look at Sixth

         19  Avenue and 57th Street tomorrow.

         20                 MS. COHEN: I invite you to do that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Okay.

         22                 Let me make something clear. We are

         23  not here, in nowhere in the legislation, as an

         24  attorney myself, discussing with other attorneys, I

         25  asked everybody, we are not in any way here
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          2  regulating. There is no way you are going to have

          3  less boxes because of this legislation, and to

          4  assume that a Commissioner will start randomly one

          5  take over and say I'm going to do what I want to do,

          6  just doesn't work, I think we've proven that

          7  already. It's not the way business works, it's not

          8  the way government conducts themselves. And I know

          9  that we are very sensitive. And the issue here is,

         10  again, not -- I think you should applaud this and

         11  stand there, because it's not the problem of you,

         12  the publishers are members of your association, it's

         13  more the fly-by-nights, and not even fly-by-nights

         14  who are legitimate publishers, these are people, for

         15  whatever reasons, decide to wake up one morning and

         16  for whatever reason, personal and business-wise,

         17  have a newspaper, whatever they call it, a magazine.

         18  I could show you in my district magazines that are

         19  not magazines, all they are is a collection of ads.

         20  To me that's not free speech, that's commercial

         21  speech, and that's another level that we have to

         22  deal with. And it's making it bad for you.

         23                 I see the New York Times boxes. In

         24  fact, I see you moving them more and more. First of

         25  all, like you said, things have changed. Sure things
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          2  have changed. You have the Internet, and like you

          3  said before, I was going to make a crack about when

          4  you said that, you talked about where the latest

          5  news people need -- I don't wait for the New York

          6  Times the next morning, I just have to turn on CNN

          7  or any other news media to find what I need, the

          8  latest, the anthrax, whose office is anthrax going

          9  to be, and there are some people who say, enough is

         10  enough already also.

         11                 So, the bottom line is today, there

         12  are so many ways today on information super highway

         13  to get information. People don't even wait for

         14  information, as the reporter is typing it into the

         15  computer, so we can get it and trying to find all

         16  kinds of ways, before it's even published. So, we

         17  know that things have changed today that are not

         18  from before.

         19                 So, I want you to understand that

         20  we're not here fighting you, we're here to work with

         21  you. And I think what you should give us an

         22  opportunity to, you know, look at it, things that

         23  you have raised, but, again, from speaking to my

         24  colleagues, the issues here, every issue that you

         25  have said we have addressed, and looking at this
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          2  agreement, it's by far no different than the very

          3  same agreement that you have agreed to, and now it's

          4  going to be codified. That's the whole change.

          5                 MR. FREEMAN: I think the one problem,

          6  though, is, if in codifying it the restrictions that

          7  are in here are made more onerous, that's what I

          8  understand from Counsel from the Department of

          9  Transportation, is likely to happen.

         10                 If these very restrictions are

         11  codified, I think it's unnecessary, but I think we

         12  can live with that.

         13                 These restrictions are made more

         14  restrictive, which is what I understand Counsel to

         15  the Transportation Department said they would

         16  become, then it would result in the lessening in the

         17  number of vending machines.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I will find that

         19  out.

         20                 MR. FREEMAN: That's a very important

         21  point.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: That's the issue --

         23  all we're doing here basically, first of all we're

         24  not codifying everything today. Like you said, there

         25  is going to be a regulation process. But. Again, the
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          2  regulation process is not where haphazardly the

          3  Commissioner wakes up one morning and this is what

          4  I'm going to do. There is a public hearing, people

          5  have a right to speak, there is a process, there are

          6  agencies that are involved, and that point, you

          7  know, whatever legislative body decides that they're

          8  not happy, they can address that, too. But this is a

          9  continuing process. If we do it today, I guarantee

         10  you someone is going to do it. And the truth is that

         11  we want to do a lot of things. I have to tell you,

         12  if you look at the record of this Committee in the

         13  last ten years since I became Chairman of it, we've

         14  been very busy with a lot of issues before us. We

         15  have tried to tackle the issues that are important

         16  to us.

         17                 This isn't something -- I have to

         18  tell you, every community is screaming and dealing

         19  with it. I mean, we have people here during the day

         20  to testify, which is when the issue is really

         21  important to them in a community, you should be the

         22  one saying, you know what - I agree with you, I want

         23  to work with you, because these are your customers.

         24  These are people who buy, I'm sure if I took a show

         25  o hands, they all are buying the major newspapers.
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          2  And if I could only say, if you're not happy with

          3  the vending machines, they could always, you know,

          4  give you a plug for the 1-800 number, do home

          5  delivery. It works very well. It gets to your house

          6  and less of a problem.

          7                 MR. FREEMAN: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Okay.

          9                 MR. FREEMAN: There is also, though, a

         10  silent majority of 100,000 people who use the

         11  machines and for whom it's a great convenience. It

         12  would be inconvenient if it was moved in the middle

         13  of a block or it was taken away all together.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Let's not talk

         15  about the silent majority. I always say the silent

         16  majority are the ones that aren't here screaming at

         17  us. The calls that we get, the hundreds of phone

         18  calls we get, and they rely on us to resolve this

         19  issue.

         20                 I could tell you this much: I did not

         21  prompt any Council member here, and I have people

         22  from all walks of life, it's a diversified group and

         23  everything else, all feel the same way, they have a

         24  serious problem. And yet, some of them have a

         25  serious problem about restricting speech, but on the
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          2  other hand they say we need to vote for something.

          3                 MS. COHEN: Yes, can I just add to

          4  George's point, which is that it wouldn't just be an

          5  inconvenience to people that they'd have to go to

          6  the middle of the block, our circulation people did

          7  a rough survey looking at the prior iteration of

          8  this draft ordinance, which is presumably some

          9  version of what the DOT would promulgate, and based

         10  on that rough calculation, we would have to remove,

         11  not move, remove 95 percent of our boxes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I guarantee you the

         13  people that just clapped now are happy to hear that

         14  read your publication and they're happy about it.

         15                 MS. COHEN: The Supreme Court has

         16  specifically analogized newsracks to pamphlets and

         17  made the point that not only is it important for

         18  smaller publishers and people maybe with unpopular

         19  views to have this relatively inexpensive means to

         20  state their views, but also for people who, many

         21  people don't have access to the Internet. After

         22  September 11th, people were, you know, going out in

         23  droves to find anything they could get their hands

         24  on to read to learn more, and, so, this is a want

         25  not only by the publishers to get the news out,
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          2  including smaller publishers with maybe unpopular

          3  views, but also citizens to find out what's going

          4  on.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I hear you. I hear

          6  you. The only one remark I will say about the

          7  Supreme Court, the only way you could make sure when

          8  you go through the process, I would love to be, as

          9  an attorney, I would like to be one of the people

         10  listed on the people that you're going to sue when

         11  it comes to the Supreme Court, it will probably be

         12  about ten years from now, because it will be an

         13  honor for me, and law students will think, wow, the

         14  City -- I mean, Publishers Association versus the

         15  City of New York, well, former Councilman Noach Dear

         16  and so forth, so forth. I would love it, so remember

         17  my name, please.

         18                 Listen, I'm not here to fight this,

         19  we're here to work with you. But after I read this

         20  regulation, I'm not doing anything different than

         21  you agreed upon. So that's why I feel comfortable

         22  with it.

         23                 Another thing I want to remark to

         24  you. We are not voting today on this, we are voting

         25  Thursday at 12:00. So, up until Thursday 12:00, we
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          2  have all the opportunities you want. I will speak to

          3  you, you speak to my counsel, whatever issues you

          4  have, we would like to see if we can work it out.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Mr.

          6  Chairman.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Let me just

          9  say one thing. It sounds to me as if we're not as

         10  far apart as we think we are.

         11                 Do you really think we're farther

         12  apart than we really are? If it's about codifying

         13  this agreement which you agreed to, you're saying

         14  that you don't have a problem with that? And as I

         15  look through this I see that many of the things in

         16  this agreement are the things that, so none of these

         17  things would exist if this was followed, the way I

         18  read it, or the way I looked at it. I didn't get the

         19  chance to read it. So, that wouldn't exist? Or

         20  Broadway and SoHo wouldn't exist? And definitely

         21  Sixth Avenue and 57th Street, we wouldn't have a

         22  problem, or Eighth Avenue and Chelsea, because there

         23  would be no pictures here, and therefore, there

         24  would probably be a lot less of the issues that

         25  we're talking about.
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          2                 So, what we probably should do, and I

          3  want to thank the Chairman for holding it off til

          4  Thursday, because I wasn't prepared to vote today,

          5  to say let's have this discussion and maybe you

          6  could speed up your discussion with the Chairman, or

          7  with our lawyers to make sure that what you think is

          8  important is addressed, and that we can address an

          9  issue that's very, very, very much in the mind of

         10  each and every one of us here. Because even though

         11  I'm listening to what you're saying, I also

         12  understand that this cannot continue to exist in our

         13  City. It cannot happen.

         14                 MR. FREEMAN: Well, by good fortune,

         15  Mr. Cummings has just walked in, so I think it might

         16  be useful to say what you just said before, that

         17  really if you had to make a statute it should be no

         18  broader, no more restrictive than the agreement we

         19  have in front of him.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I will have a

         21  conversation with him right after.

         22                 MR. FREEMAN: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I've just got to

         24  move on because I've got people here to testify.

         25                 Thank you very much.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            96

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 MR. FREEMAN: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: And, again, please

          4  be in touch with my counsel, Mitch, on any issues

          5  that you think we missed.

          6                 What I'm going to ask, I have a

          7  policy of limiting the speech to two minutes each,

          8  but the reason why I had this group up here is it

          9  was concerning them directly in the sense of their

         10  livelihood, so as I give the Administration as much

         11  time as they need, I wanted the opposition.

         12                 But now I would like to ask you

         13  please to confine to two minutes. Please try to

         14  limit your time as you speak.

         15                 The other thing is, I get the gist of

         16  it and those who are for it, I understand why you're

         17  for it and we're on your side on that issue, and

         18  you're opposed to it, I would like to hear why and

         19  let's try to move on.

         20                 Can we have Carl Weisbrod. Carl is

         21  here?

         22                 PARTICIPANT: No, Jill Overland

         23  (phonetic).

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I just want to make

         25  sure before the others leave, the meeting is going
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          2  to be 11:00 on Thursday, because I have a Council

          3  meeting. Eleven o'clock, and we plan on voting it

          4  that day. And I will not allow anybody who has

          5  testified, I'm not going to allow testimony of

          6  people who testified already. But if there are

          7  others that want to come forward, limited testimony,

          8  we may, you know.

          9                 You are going to read Carl's? Why

         10  don't you, instead of reading it, highlight it and I

         11  will make it part of the record.

         12                 MS. OVERLAND: (Not identified for the

         13  record.) Okay.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Identify yourself

         15  for the record, please.

         16                 MS. OVERLAND: I'm reading the

         17  testimony of Carl Weisbrod, who is testifying as

         18  President of BID Managers' Association, representing

         19  the managers of New York City's 44 Business

         20  Improvement Districts. He is also the President of

         21  the Lower Manhattan Business Improvement District

         22  Downtown Alliance.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Speak into the mic.

         24                 MS. OVERLAND: Is that better? Okay.

         25                 Generally we have a whole prepared
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          2  statement, but I'll go through the highlights.

          3                 The BID Managers' Association

          4  applauds the tilt and the intent of the proposal. We

          5  are in favor of newsracks to conform to general

          6  standards, size, shape and appearance, as well as

          7  for attractive, well-maintained, multiple bending

          8  newsracks, as an alternative to single newsracks.

          9                 In addition, by prohibiting the

         10  placement of single news boxes on a block face where

         11  there is an improved multiple vending newsrack

         12  situated, the bill would help promote a more orderly

         13  sidewalk appearance.

         14                 Of course, as the bill gets fleshed

         15  out, there will be critical issues as to what

         16  elements of newsrack placement are appropriate for

         17  the regulation, as well as the ordinance itself, and

         18  effective enforcement provisions will be necessary

         19  to ensure that poorly maintained and abandoned

         20  newsracks can be moved in a timely fashion before

         21  safety or security concerns are triggered.

         22                 However, we do commend the Council

         23  and the Administration, particularly Commissioner

         24  Weinshall for their willingness to address the issue

         25  in enacting legislation of this type, and it's
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          2  especially important for the persons who are

          3  involved in the effort to beautify and maintain City

          4  sidewalks and to maximize the open sidewalk space to

          5  provide for the free flow of pedestrians, and,

          6  therefore, we're in favor of the general tilt of

          7  this legislation.

          8                 Moreover, we're confident that the

          9  regulation of the placement of newsboxes and

         10  newsracks can be accomplished in a constitutionally

         11  permissible manner that would enable pedestrian

         12  vehicular traffic to perceive smoothly and safely.

         13                 The community welcomes the

         14  opportunity to work with the Council, the Department

         15  of Transportation and others, to ensure the adoption

         16  of reasonable and effective regulations.

         17                 In particular, I wanted to mention

         18  that many business improvement districts have

         19  previously testified -- I'm out of time already --

         20  and some of the concerns were safety and the

         21  maintenance of the news boxes as well as the

         22  placement and sanitation concerns, especially given

         23  the heightened awareness of security issues

         24  currently.

         25                 And finally, I wanted to say that on
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          2  behalf of the BID Managers, they are particularly

          3  pleased that the bill recognizes the important role

          4  that they play in the commercial districts

          5  throughout New York City. They view themselves as

          6  partners with the City government in achieving

          7  broadly desired improvements in the urban

          8  environment, and as the City enters a period of

          9  tighter budgets, they believe that they'll be

         10  providing a necessary service and they look forward

         11  to working with the Administration on behalf of this

         12  bill and other City issues, as well.

         13                 MR. MANSHEL: Mr. Chairman, I'm Andy

         14  Manshel from the law firm of Calkin Zarky &

         15  Bernstein (phonetic) representing the 34th Street

         16  Partnership and Bryant Park Restoration Corporation.

         17  And thank you very much for having us here today,

         18  thank you for holding the hearing. The two BIDs that

         19  I represent enthusiastically support the enacting of

         20  this bill.

         21                 The leadership of those BIDs were the

         22  innovators in creating the multi-bin rack program.

         23  You will see the one in the drawing that DOT brought

         24  is actually a Bryant Park rack, which I think my

         25  client would be happy for me to point out, rather
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          2  than a Grand Central rack, and this bill will

          3  legitimize and formalize the current procedure being

          4  used for the multi-bin rack, which is now being done

          5  on an informal basis, and a voluntary basis. And as

          6  with the discussion earlier, not everyone is

          7  participating. There are a number of companies that

          8  don't participate. So this will require everyone to

          9  participate.

         10                 I would also like to thank the

         11  newspapers, particularly the New York Times, and

         12  Chuck Shelton, who helped us create this program. We

         13  worked cooperatively together to do this, and

         14  without their cooperation it would not have

         15  happened, and I would think that the City and the

         16  papers can work together, even after legislation has

         17  been created in order to adopt regulations that are

         18  satisfactory to everybody.

         19                 So, again, I commend you, I thank

         20  you. I think this will be a real step forward for

         21  the BIDs.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: The other issues

         23  raised, do you want to address it for like 60

         24  seconds, since you're an attorney?

         25                 MR. MANSHEL: Sure. There are two
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          2  older cases on this that the folks from the paper

          3  cited, however, there are two more recent cases that

          4  have upheld City regulation newsracks, one out of

          5  Florida and one out of Boston. The Boston case is

          6  interesting. It upheld the City of Boston

          7  prohibiting newsracks in a historic district. The

          8  Florida case upheld a set of regulations that are

          9  very similar to the ones that are proposed here,

         10  regarding color, size, placement of newsracks. So,

         11  those cases support I think what the City is doing,

         12  I think it is constitutional.

         13                 We're not talking about -- it's

         14  interesting to me, the dialogue that you had with

         15  the papers before, and we're talking about

         16  regulating newsracks, we're not talking about

         17  eliminating them, and we're particularly, I think

         18  this will particularly focus on the non-cooperators,

         19  rather than the daily newspapers who have been very

         20  cooperative and good to work with.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Council Member

         22  Freed.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Yes, thank you.

         24  And in fact, I thought it was interesting you

         25  mentioned the fact that they found it legal
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          2  regulating them in the historic district, because,

          3  of course, that one near the Broadway and SoHo one

          4  is right in the historic district, and I mentioned

          5  that before.

          6                 One question I had, on certain

          7  districts in the City we've already had the

          8  decisions on the part of the City saying to limit

          9  general vending and food vending and in some cases

         10  even limit both artwork and books, which are

         11  protected by the First Amendment, based on the fact

         12  that it's so crowded in these streets; wouldn't you

         13  think that a similar regulation there would be

         14  upheld?

         15                 MR. MANSHEL: I agree with you,

         16  Council Member. In fact, I, along with Ed Wallace,

         17  was the author of the bill that restricted --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: I'm not sure I

         19  thank you for that, but --

         20                 MR. MANSHEL: Well, it has been

         21  upheld, and it has significantly limited the amount

         22  of written material vending in town, and there are

         23  First Amendment guarantees and we cherish them and

         24  they are wonderful, and I think this bill respects

         25  them.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: So, given the

          3  fact that we have those sort of First Amendment

          4  freedoms that were upheld, don't you think it

          5  follows that this would be upheld as well?

          6                 MR. MANSHEL: Absolutely.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Council Member

          9  Rodriguez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: You may

         11  have answered this, I was outside.

         12                 You represent the group that has

         13  these boxes; am I correct?

         14                 MR. MANSHEL: That's correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Those don't

         16  exist over here because you removed them all?

         17                 MR. MANSHEL: That happened on a

         18  voluntary basis. There are some publications that

         19  don't participate in the program, so there are a few

         20  single boxes left in the 34th Street and Bryant Park

         21  district, but, you know, a day could come along

         22  where people decided not to participate, and they

         23  could go and put single boxes out, which is a fear

         24  that we have, which is why this legislation would be

         25  very helpful to us.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Okay,

          3  great. Thank you very much.

          4                 MR. MANSHEL: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Is someone

          6  representing Sanitation here on the other bill?

          7                 This is regarding 262-A. Go ahead.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SANTANGELO:

          9  Yes. Good afternoon, Chairman Dear, members of the

         10  Committee on Transportation. I am Ann Marie

         11  Santangelo, Assistant Commissioner, Bureau of Legal

         12  Affairs at the Department of Sanitation, and I'm

         13  here today to testify regarding Intro. 262-A.

         14                 The bill would add Ash Wednesday,

         15  Purim and St. Patrick's Day to the Department's

         16  schedule of street cleaning suspension.

         17                 In my testimony I will briefly

         18  discuss some of the technical and operational

         19  aspects of the Department's street cleaning

         20  responsibility that might be affected by this

         21  legislation.

         22                 Litter control and street cleanliness

         23  in New York City are important quality of life

         24  concerns for the Department of Sanitation as for the

         25  Council.
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          2                 The Department is responsible for

          3  ensuring the cleanliness of over 6,000 miles of the

          4  City's streets and adjacent sidewalks. I am sure you

          5  will agree that keeping our streets clean is not an

          6  easy task, given the number of motorists and

          7  pedestrians that travel them and sometimes

          8  unfortunately also litter them.

          9                 Mechanical brooms are the

         10  Department's most cost-effective method of street

         11  cleaning. Alternate side parking regulations provide

         12  curbside accessibility so that sanitation workers

         13  can operate mechanical brooms to clean the streets.

         14                 While a mechanical broom can sweep an

         15  average of 12 curb miles per shift, a sanitation

         16  worker using a hand broom manually will sweep an

         17  average of only one curb mile.

         18                 During the early to mid-1990s when

         19  the Department's street cleaning budget was reduced,

         20  the Department consistently maintained acceptable

         21  levels of cleanliness, however, in recent years, the

         22  Department has worked diligently to ensure that

         23  levels of street cleanliness are improved and

         24  maintained.

         25                 As a result, the City has achieved
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          2  historic levels of cleanliness. And of course, along

          3  with safer streets, this has made the City an

          4  attractive place for business and tourism.

          5                 In FY 1995, the Department

          6  implemented its segmented mechanical broom street

          7  sweeping program, reducing the amount of time

          8  parking is restricted for cleaning purposes.

          9                 This program was initiated for the

         10  benefit of residential and commercial

         11  establishments. It reduces the no parking time from

         12  three hours to 90 minutes on weekdays.

         13                 On Saturdays the Department provides

         14  mechanical broom sweeping only along metered streets

         15  in commercial areas.

         16                 There are currently 40 community

         17  board districts in the Department segmented sweeping

         18  program, and by 2003 the Department will incorporate

         19  54 community board districts.

         20                 The three districts on Staten Island

         21  and Q 10 and Q 11 in Queens have not been segmented

         22  because these areas do not have alternate side

         23  parking restrictions.

         24                 In many neighborhoods throughout the

         25  City street cleaning is only scheduled one time per
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          2  week. It is in these one-time areas that the

          3  Department sweeps one side of the street in one day

          4  and the other side on another.

          5                 These are the areas most likely to be

          6  impacted when alternate side parking is suspended.

          7  When the streets are not swept for a period of time,

          8  litter will accumulate.

          9                 This is especially noticeable in

         10  commercial areas on Sunday evenings when street

         11  cleaning has not occurred for two days.

         12                 In calendar year 2002, the City is

         13  scheduled to suspend alternate side parking rules

         14  for street cleaning purposes on 32 legal and

         15  religious holidays, excluding those that fall on

         16  Sunday when the Department does not provide street

         17  cleaning services.

         18                 The Department previously testified

         19  on this bill's predecessor in 1998 and in March of

         20  this year. The Department's position was, as it is

         21  today, to express concern about the bill, that

         22  position remains unchanged. The effect of this bill

         23  would be the addition of three days from which you

         24  would not be able to clean the streets, and, again,

         25  this could greatly affect community cleanliness.
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          2                 For example, in September of 2002,

          3  street cleaning rules will be suspended for five

          4  days. This number does not include Sundays when the

          5  Department does not do street cleaning.

          6                 The neighborhoods where street

          7  cleaning is only scheduled one time per week, and a

          8  designated day for street cleaning is Saturday,

          9  these neighborhoods will not receive street cleaning

         10  for three out of the four Saturdays in the month of

         11  September.

         12                 It is these areas that are most

         13  likely to feel and see the impact of suspended

         14  street cleaning when it occurs.

         15                 For this reason we respectfully

         16  oppose Intro. 262-A. Unfortunately, the Director of

         17  the Bureau of Cleaning and Collection, who was

         18  scheduled to testify today is unavailable because of

         19  the Department's snow emergency preparedness

         20  program, which is currently ongoing, I will be happy

         21  to answer any questions that you have and take back

         22  those that you have about operation.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: You're talking

         24  about Mr. Jeli?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SANTANGELO:
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          2  Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Oh, my good friend.

          4  I'm sorry that he didn't come.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SANTANGELO:

          7  You're very welcome.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I have no

          9  questions. Thank you. Please send him my regards.

         10                 Is Arthur Strickler here? I have this

         11  soft spot for District Managers, being one myself 19

         12  years ago. Thankless and hard-working job, right?

         13                 And your Council Member wants to say

         14  something nice about you. Isn't that nice?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: I said I have

         16  to say something nice about you, one of my district

         17  managers and you do a great job.

         18                 MR. STRICKLER: Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: And thank you

         20  for being here.

         21                 MR. STRICKLER: Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Go ahead, start.

         23  Identify yourself for the record.

         24                 MR. STRICKLER: My name is Arthur

         25  Strickler. I'm the District Manager of Community
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          2  Board No. 2, Manhattan, which covers Greenwich

          3  Village, Little Italy, SoHo, NoHo, Hudson Square and

          4  the northern part of Chinatown. And on behalf of

          5  Aubry Leiv, the Chairperson of Community Board 2,

          6  and Lisa LaFrieda, who is the Chairperson of the

          7  Sidewalks Public Facilities and Public Access

          8  Committee, I'm representing them this morning --

          9  this afternoon.

         10                 Our district runs from Canal Street

         11  to 14th Street, Fourth Avenue, the barrier over the

         12  Hudson River.

         13                 And Mr. Chairman, first we want to

         14  agree with everything you said at the beginning of

         15  the opening of today's session, your remarks, and we

         16  support them, and we support some regulations of

         17  some sort.

         18                 These things are encumbrances on the

         19  sidewalk. They are real menaces to pedestrians and a

         20  genuine safety issue.

         21                 Many crosswalks are blocked. For

         22  example, we had a major problem on Bleeker Street

         23  and Seventh Avenue South. It took months to remove

         24  these particular stands and vending machines. The

         25  DOT was afraid to do anything, the Department of
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          2  Sanitation was afraid to do anything, everybody

          3  looked at everybody else. They finally go them

          4  removed. They were smack in the middle of a

          5  crosswalk, and a very busy pedestrian area,

          6  especially with both people who live in the area and

          7  tourists.

          8                 We're not only talking about vending

          9  machines, something which has not been mentioned,

         10  but storage boxes as well. The New York Times, I

         11  don't know if they are still here, has these big

         12  metal blue boxes which are closed with a lock which

         13  has the ability to receive papers in the morning

         14  before the store opens, and then afterwards, after

         15  the store closes, for their returns.

         16                 We were told that these could not be

         17  touched, and these could not be moved, because

         18  they're part of the freedom of speech, and,

         19  therefore, they could be anywhere on the sidewalk in

         20  front of stores. And these are not vending machines.

         21                 All these units are chained to each

         22  other, they're chained to street lights, parking

         23  meters, parking regulations, signs, poles, and

         24  sometimes even around trees.

         25                 I would think if it was possible they
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          2  would even chain them around people and pay them

          3  just to stand there so they could sell their

          4  newspapers. And I'm not talking about newspapers

          5  which are most probably the best, there are other of

          6  these plastic stands for poetry groups, get a job,

          7  employment ads, groups running classes or learning

          8  groups, automobile sales, exactly what you said

          9  earlier. It's basically gotten out of hand,

         10  proliferate over night, one finds a spot and the

         11  next day there are three, four or five more, it's

         12  like Miracle Grow overnight. We definitely need some

         13  sort of regulations.

         14                 Of course we realize the First

         15  Amendment issues are involved, and we support free

         16  speech, not any time, anywhere, or any place. There

         17  must be a balance. We need some ordinance, no chains

         18  around anything, especially trees, not in

         19  crosswalks, or any other reasonable solutions, so we

         20  can all live together in safety and peace. They have

         21  rights, but so do we.

         22                 I'm not going to read this, I gave

         23  these out. This issue goes back with us to 1987 when

         24  we had something called "sidewalks of the people,"

         25  and everything you've mentioned is in here. We're
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          2  talking about 15 years ago.

          3                 I just want to conclude by saying,

          4  it's interesting, they said if there's a complaint

          5  they'll take care of it. The question is why don't

          6  they follow their own rules? Why do they have to

          7  wait for a complaint? They know what the regulations

          8  are, their own self-regulations. If they're in a

          9  crosswalk, they have to wait for me as a District

         10  Manager, or you as a Council member, to call and

         11  complain. Their things don't belong there to begin

         12  with.

         13                 What you said was very, very

         14  accurate, they're not following their own rules.

         15  We're here today because they're not caring, and the

         16  bottom line in most cases is the money.

         17                 I had a store for many years as a

         18  newspaper stand. We sold newspapers. You can't go to

         19  a subway stop or a bus stop and not find a newspaper

         20  stand a half a minute away to buy a newspaper. The

         21  bottom line of this is money, and they really don't

         22  care about the citizens of New York. And thank you

         23  very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Thank you.

         25                 Noah Budnick.
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          2                 Please try to stick to the two

          3  minutes.

          4                 MR. BUDNICK: My name is Noah Budnick.

          5  I'm the Project Director for Transportation

          6  Alternatives.

          7                 Transportation Alternatives is the

          8  largest local pedestrian advocacy organization in

          9  the United States. We have 5,000 members in the New

         10  York City area, and we are in support of bill 943.

         11                 This bill is important because New

         12  York is the most pedestrian-oriented City in the

         13  United States. Nationwide car trips certainly

         14  outnumber walking trips, but in New York pedestrians

         15  outnumber motorvehicles approximately 20 to one.

         16                 However, our sidewalks are too

         17  narrow, and the sidewalk space that we do have is

         18  encroached by telephones, hydrants, mailboxes,

         19  signs, lampposts, traffic signals, plants,

         20  newsstands and these newsracks.

         21                 Pedestrians need more space, and this

         22  means in addition to the regulations proposed, we

         23  also need wider sidewalks and less clutter on them.

         24                 Transportation alternatives supports

         25  943-A, but it does not adequately empower the
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          2  commissioner to regulate the placement of the

          3  newsrack.

          4                 The pedestrian level of service,

          5  which is a federal standard to determine the level

          6  of pedestrian crowding of the density on the

          7  sidewalk, should be used to determine the permitting

          8  of newsracks.

          9                 The regulation should never allow

         10  newsracks to be placed in such a way that creates

         11  dangerous conditions for pedestrians by inhibiting

         12  their movement, obstructing their vision or limiting

         13  the access to safe crossing.

         14                 Transportation Alternatives urges the

         15  City Council to pass 943-A enthusiastically and for

         16  the Department of Transportation to enforce it

         17  vigorously.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Thank you.

         20                 Vanessa Gruen.

         21                 Will the following people be ready,

         22  just come up here so you can go then: Christine

         23  Donovan; Ethelyn Honig, and Teri Slater. Why don't

         24  you take the seats right up here and be ready right

         25  after. You will follow.
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          2                 MS. GRUEN: Hello. My name is Vanessa

          3  Gruen, and I am the Director of Special Projects at

          4  the Municipal Arts Society.

          5                 The Municipal Arts Society has long

          6  been concerned about the proliferation of newsracks

          7  on the City's sidewalks. We've come and testified at

          8  several of these hearings and we have forever been

          9  very passionate about the issue, and we called for

         10  the New York City Council, along with DOT, to take

         11  all the actions necessary to adopt and implement

         12  these proposed regulations.

         13                 Because the racks are not affixed to

         14  the sidewalks or regulated in their placements, they

         15  tend to be placed at street corners, causing

         16  pedestrian congestion.

         17                 Boxes chained to parking signs fall

         18  over on their side or are pushed towards the curb. A

         19  chaotic Helter Skelter arrangement of boxes has

         20  resulted with some corner obstructed by eight or

         21  more structures. Many boxes are not maintained, yet

         22  remained on the sidewalk, scratched and damaged for

         23  years.

         24                 When publications go out of business,

         25  their racks are not removed. Some serve simply as
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          2  advertising for their publications. They are often

          3  used as convenient trash receptacles.

          4                 The City has tried on several

          5  occasions to regulate these newsracks. We urge that

          6  these regulations that are being proposed now be put

          7  into effect.

          8                 That's basically what we want to say.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Thank you very

         10  much. I appreciate it. Thank you.

         11                 MS. SLATER: My name is Teri Slater.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Press the button.

         13  Go ahead.

         14                 MS. SLATER: Okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Now we got it.

         16                 MS. SLATER: My name is Teri Slater,

         17  co-chair of Lexington Neighbors, a civic group

         18  established several years ago with the goal of

         19  cleaning up a five-block stretch of Lexington Avenue

         20  from 74th to 79th Street, a vendor-free zone, by the

         21  way.

         22                 We've had historic bishops-crook

         23  lampposts installed, persuaded Lenox Hill Hospital

         24  to donate garbage receptacles like those used in the

         25  different BIDs, and we've been working with
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          2  merchants and encouraging them to seek ways to make

          3  their store fronts more attractive and to remove

          4  illegal street clutter, signs and objects which

          5  impede pedestrian flow.

          6                 Lexington and Madison Avenues are the

          7  narrowest avenues with the narrowest sidewalks in

          8  Manhattan. These sidewalks cannot continue to

          9  accommodate the endless rows of unsightly dirty and

         10  dangerous newspaper and advertising circular boxes,

         11  in addition to parking meters, bus stops, lampposts,

         12  mailbox, subway entrances and exits and grates and

         13  telephones.

         14                 Most recently there was a shocking

         15  proposal to install huge pay phone booths with

         16  virtual billboards attached.

         17                 While this proposal is completely

         18  inappropriate for both Madison and Lexington Avenue,

         19  at least the City would receive revenue from the

         20  phone companies.

         21                 This is not the case with some of

         22  these boxes.

         23                 Hiding behind the first amendment,

         24  they have given free public sidewalk space on which

         25  to conduct their business.
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          2                 Many other municipalities have

          3  successfully dealt with this problem by regulating

          4  the placement and maintenance of these boxes.

          5                 Newsstands are regulated and cannot

          6  locate just anywhere.

          7                 Do not be cowed by the newspaper

          8  lobby. Those of us who do not use the sidewalks of

          9  New York City for our own commercial purposes

         10  deserve to be heard.

         11                 The public is entitled to safe and

         12  unimpeded access to public sidewalk space. The City

         13  must put the general welfare of the public first.

         14                 I hope this matter is resolved before

         15  the news boxes between 79th and 78th streets on

         16  Lexington Avenue meet mid-block. Lexington neighbors

         17  enthusiastically supports Intro. 943, return our

         18  public sidewalk space to the public now.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: A quick question.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: I've got a

         22  quick question for you.

         23                 MS. SLATER: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: You said

         25  many other municipalities have --
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          2                 MS. SLATER: Well, Boston, for

          3  example, is one such.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: I

          5  understand that in Boston the historic district, and

          6  it was in the context of preserving the historic

          7  district, and you said many others, so...

          8                 MS. SLATER: Well, I think some cities

          9  -- I really wasn't supposed to testify today and I

         10  would have been more prepared, but I'm sending my

         11  testimony in and I can include those cities.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Sure, the

         13  list of other municipalities that have successfully

         14  --

         15                 MS. SLATER: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Because

         17  it's my understanding that most of them are either

         18  in litigation or have been struck down.

         19                 MS. SLATER: I don't think so.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: The First

         21  Amendment is something we have to be careful with.

         22                 MS. SLATER: I'm regulating the

         23  placement.

         24                 Well, yes it is, but I think --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Okay. Thank
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          2  you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Next.

          4                 MS. HONIG: I would hardly --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Would you identify

          6  yourself for the record?

          7                 MS. HONIG: Yes. Ethelyn Honig. I'm

          8  here representing, but only with my own words, the

          9  Goat Hill Neighborhood Association, between Park and

         10  Lexington, consortium of about 30 privately-owned

         11  houses and some apartment buildings.

         12                 We didn't really know how to deal

         13  with this, and perfectly sane people have acted

         14  insanely. Two people that I knew dragged these boxes

         15  into their own homes because they were so angry.

         16                 Another person, another very sane

         17  person, went to Grecious Home, bought large bags,

         18  put them around the boxes, the ones that were empty,

         19  and had them hauled away by the Sanitation

         20  Department. These were perfectly normal people.

         21                 I just started to take photographs of

         22  96th Street, which is a very fragile -- Lexington

         23  Avenue is a very fragile avenue, it's very narrow,

         24  we cannot have trees because of the subways. There

         25  is a huge amount of pedestrian walkways.
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          2                 I don't want to bore you, I don't

          3  want to repeat things, but we couldn't throw garbage

          4  in our garbage bins, in our garbage bins, which is

          5  on here, people use them to put Chinese lunch, which

          6  is in the pictures that you've got. I'm not going to

          7  repeat everything that you've said, but I'm curious

          8  about something. I did a count between 86th Street

          9  and 96th Street where I live, along Lexington

         10  Avenue, there are ten outlets to sell and distribute

         11  written information. There is -- I won't tell you

         12  where they are, but there are ten places for people

         13  to buy information, if this is an issue of freedom

         14  of speech.

         15                 I am a senior citizen, I'm 69 years

         16  old, I have no problem walking down to 86th Street

         17  to get the newspaper, if I want it. Now, let me also

         18  tell you that I'm very annoyed that the people who

         19  sat here for a long time took off, okay?

         20                 I also am annoyed that my

         21  representative from my -- one person is sitting

         22  here, that's it.

         23                 Another thing is that owning a

         24  private house --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Let's address
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          2  please --

          3                 MS. HONIG: Okay.

          4                 I own a private house. I get fined

          5  from the Sanitation Department if I don't sweep 18

          6  inches out into the gutter. I didn't know that. I

          7  have been fined many times. The whole block is

          8  paranoid. Thank you. Has been cleaned up, Chinatown

          9  looks great, at a time when we've all become very

         10  aware that this City, forget the news, we are

         11  inundated with news, this City needs to look

         12  aesthetically together, subway behavior has become

         13  better because our subways look better, we consider

         14  this graffiti.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Okay, thank you

         16  very much.

         17                 MS. HONIG: And I just want to -- I

         18  have one other thing. I went and analyzed --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I can't --

         20                 MS. HONIG: These are not freedom of

         21  speech, they're an excuse to advertise under the

         22  guise of freedom of speech. End.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Thank you.

         24                 Christine Donovan. She's not here.

         25                 Rita Hirsch, followed by Cathy Hunt.
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          2  Could you come up? Step up, Cathy Hunt, and Andrew

          3  Liebowitz.

          4                 Okay, could you start, please?

          5                 MS. HIRSCH: Yes.

          6                 Thank you for this opportunity to

          7  appear before your committee.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: State your name.

          9                 MS. HIRSCH: My name is Rita Hirsch,

         10  I'm an educator and have worked in public education

         11  for over 30 years. I'm a native New Yorker and a

         12  strong supporter of the First Amendment.

         13                 I believe that the First Amendment is

         14  being abused by the proliferation of news racks on

         15  every corner of populated areas of the City.

         16                 At First Avenue and 80th Street,

         17  Northeast Corner, and at 79th Street and Lexington

         18  Avenue, Southwest, it is impossible to get off the

         19  back of the bus which the driver asks you to do

         20  because the news racks are blocking the exits.

         21                 I'm now beginning to see two boxes of

         22  the same company, and it happens to be Village

         23  Voice, if anyone is here from Village Voice, next to

         24  each other. This is at 58th Street and First Avenue;

         25  do you want to show this, anyone? And what I've
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          2  observed, and I'd like to really share this with the

          3  Committee, is that one of the boxes is often empty,

          4  and what I think the company is doing, and if I'm

          5  wrong, please correct me, the company waits until

          6  they are both empty before refilling them. This

          7  invites the newsracks to be used for garbage.

          8                 The newsracks are often covered, as

          9  you already heard, with graffiti, have broken doors

         10  and in general are ugly and an insult to this

         11  incredible city.

         12                 I regard the controlling of the

         13  proliferation of newsracks and upkeep of the present

         14  ones as an important issue for the quality of life

         15  of the residents of New York City.

         16                 I'm hoping this Committee will enact

         17  a law that would end individual boxes, and would

         18  insist on one coordinated newsrack, such as the

         19  Grand Central Partnership.

         20                 In addition, those putting these

         21  newsracks on the street should be responsible for

         22  their maintenance. And, again, my appreciation for

         23  hearing my comments.

         24                 I have lots of photographs that show

         25  different points, can I enter those in?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Yes.

          3                 MS. HIRSCH: Thank you.

          4                 MS. HUNT: Okay, is this on?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Go ahead.

          6                 MS. HUNT: My name is Cathy Hunt, I'm

          7  just here as a citizen.

          8                 I think --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I want to tell you

         10  something, no one has to excuse themselves, we're

         11  not the INS, we don't check immigrant status, and we

         12  welcome, we enjoy the public. That's what this is

         13  all about. Anyone can speak, that's the great thing.

         14  We don't have a restriction of speech here.

         15                 MS. HUNT: And we all own the

         16  sidewalks, don't we?

         17                 I think in this rule that we should

         18  clarify the definition of newsrack. A distinction

         19  should be made between the boxes containing

         20  newspapers and the boxes that contain advertising

         21  brochures.

         22                 The regulations that are proposed

         23  will make the space available more scarce. How will

         24  that be allocated? A few advertisers should not be

         25  able to buy off all the permits. Many citizens don't
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          2  think the advertiser should be there at all.

          3                 I did a box-by-box count of the nine

          4  square block area, from First to Third Avenues, from

          5  54th Street to 57th Street, on July 2nd.

          6                 There were 132 boxes. One-third of

          7  them were newspapers. Two-thirds were advertising,

          8  and I would like for you fellows particularly to

          9  hear this. I'm sorry, I don't mean to be rude to you

         10  but nobody has mentioned this.

         11                 One-third newspapers, two-thirds

         12  advertisers, and 87 percent of the advertisers were

         13  for four companies - the Learning Annex, the Seminar

         14  Center, Gotham Writers Workshop and the Employment

         15  Source. Eighty-seven percent.

         16                 In July it got to be so bad and I

         17  went around and counted them and wrote down every

         18  single one of them, 132 boxes. So, I think that a

         19  lot of the first amendment talk in the first

         20  discussion of where newspapers should be and all,

         21  would look very different if you really looked at

         22  what percentage were advertising, sheer advertising.

         23                 Also, the way that the proposal

         24  states, how many feet away from different public

         25  fixtures, it should also address the telephone
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          2  booth, the licensed street vendor locations and the

          3  hydrogen tanks now on many corners. All of those

          4  impede pedestrian traffic.

          5                 Do you have one second more?

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON RODRIGUEZ: Sure,

          7  no, you can feel free.

          8                 MS. HUNT: There shouldn't be any new

          9  spots on blocks that have permanent newsstands. And

         10  there should be a limit on the number of boxes per

         11  block and per intersection. There were 29 boxes at

         12  57 Street and Third Avenue when I did the count, and

         13  there should never be two at the same block in boxes

         14  allowed in a row -- allowed at one block at one

         15  intersection, and there should never be more than

         16  three boxes in a row, and the use of the big chains

         17  to hold them together often needs to be addressed.

         18                 If I could make one other point? I

         19  think there should be a telephone number, a central

         20  telephone number on all the boxes, and it ought to

         21  be the same number so we can all remember it, and it

         22  ought to go into DOT, and the cost of the permit

         23  that they're doing ought to pay to have that done,

         24  and I think you'd have all the success that we had

         25  with the pooper scooper law, if you put this in the
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          2  hands of the hands of the citizens.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON RODRIGUEZ: Thank

          4  you very much.

          5                 Andrew Liebowitz.

          6                 MR. LIEBOWITZ: Thank you. I'm Andrew

          7  Liebowitz. I live on 96th Street and on Madison. I

          8  have a lot of the same comments that were expressed

          9  before. There are 15 boxes on my corner, I

         10  especially appreciated being here. I've never seen

         11  such a display of hutspa before on the part of the

         12  newspaper representatives. They claim the City was

         13  to blame. I don't see any City, New York City

         14  emblems on any of those boxes.

         15                 They claimed the Village Voice box

         16  was not in the crosswalk, maybe I don't have the

         17  same eyes as they do.

         18                 They relished the idea that one in

         19  every 17 New Yorkers actually used the box; what

         20  about the other 69 out of 70?

         21                 They were oblivious to the fact that

         22  television, radio and Internet were the sources for

         23  immediate information.

         24                 People weren't running out on the

         25  morning of September 12th by the morning newspaper,
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          2  they were turning on CNN and putting on the

          3  Internet. They certainly weren't going to the

          4  Village Voice the next week.

          5                 Please let them know we don't want

          6  them, we don't need them, they can threaten to sue

          7  us as much as they like, that's hutspa. That is

          8  disgusting to come from the lips from the likes of

          9  the Village Voice and the New York Times. These are

         10  the ads they have.

         11                 This is the New York Press, 98 pages,

         12  18 pages or pornographic ads. This is Blade. This is

         13  a new one I saw on my corner today, Real Live Sex

         14  Shows advertised right in the back. Maybe you'll

         15  like this one better, you can speak to the people on

         16  the other side. For those of you so interested in

         17  September 11th, maybe you'd like to speak to them.

         18  And last, but not least, we have the Learning Annex,

         19  you could be a drag queen, a prostitute, you can

         20  take a course in anything. These are not free speech

         21  items. These advertising boxes are despicable

         22  they're destroying our neighborhood and our

         23  landscape.  Please stand up to these criminals the

         24  thieves. Show them that hutspa in a public place

         25  should not be rewarded.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Mr.

          3  Chairman, that is exactly the type of ads that

          4  people have a problem with, because those are the

          5  ones that today one person's problem somebody else

          6  is okay with tomorrow. So, we need to be careful not

          7  to specify one ad or one publication and allow that

          8  to be part of the discussion, because the moment

          9  that becomes part of the discussion, then we

         10  definitely cannot pass a bill that's going to pass

         11  muster with the First Amendment.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Again, the bill is

         13  not identifying -- it's dealing with the quality of

         14  life issues, not the content of speech.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: I just

         16  didn't want that to go by and not comment.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I know. Everybody

         18  has a right, like everybody's right to express

         19  themselves, and I think what the last speaker, is

         20  just so frustrated that they chose those issues that

         21  they're concerned about, that's all.

         22                 And I have to tell you something,

         23  what's interesting, and this was more, this was in

         24  my district, I can tell you right now, if this was

         25  in my district, they wouldn't be there. I'd probably
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          2  be doing the same thing that some other person was

          3  saying, that they take it in their house. I would

          4  just not be afraid. I would cut it and put it in the

          5  street and have the garbage men pick it up.

          6                 And that's why I have to tell you

          7  that people here, and I'm glad that the people from

          8  the Voice are still here, I appreciate that, because

          9  I think they should hear what's going on, because

         10  these are their constituents as well. These are

         11  people who are reading their news publications, are

         12  reading the New York Times, reading all these

         13  newspapers, but the idea is, how do we proliferate

         14  these boxes in the street causing a very serious

         15  problem.

         16                 Let's move on to Judith Schneider,

         17  Barry Schneider, and then our last witness Irene

         18  Muschel.

         19                 MS. SCHNEIDER: Good afternoon, Mr.

         20  Chairman and City Council Members. My name is Judy

         21  Schneider, and I am Executive Vice President of

         22  ESNA, the East Sixties Neighborhood Association,

         23  which is a 42 block association, encompassing 60th

         24  to 66th Street, York to Third Avenues.

         25                 I commend the Commissioner of the DOT
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          2  for addressing the problem of the news boxes that

          3  litter the sidewalks and make it difficult for

          4  pedestrians to pass, as well as not being maintained

          5  and a magnet for graffiti and dog feces.

          6                 However, I think the proposed

          7  legislation does not address the following problems,

          8  particularly on single news boxes:

          9                 - limiting the proliferation of

         10  single news boxes, particularly on all four corners

         11  of an intersection.

         12                 I'm sure we're all familiar with

         13  that.

         14                 - limiting the location, such as the

         15  proximity of trees, driveways, fire hydrants.

         16                 Often we find the news boxes in our

         17  tree pits.

         18                 - specifics on the maintenance, to be

         19  kept graffiti free and stocked with only

         20  publications of the news box owner. If empty for a

         21  certain period of time (say two weeks) they should

         22  be removed.

         23                 - the City Council should charge a

         24  permit fee for the news boxes. This would be a

         25  source of income for the City and as all other
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          2  sidewalk intrusions must pay a licensed fee, such as

          3  canopies and planters, news boxes should not be an

          4  exception.

          5                 - I think any legislation should

          6  contain a provision for notifying the local

          7  community board of news applicants so that residents

          8  of the area could comment before the application was

          9  approved.

         10                 I hope the Council Members will take

         11  that particular comment very seriously, that the

         12  community board is very important to the residents

         13  of the community, and they should be able to have

         14  some input.

         15                 And lastly, after listening to the

         16  newspaper association, legislation is separately

         17  needed in the residential areas where BIDs do not

         18  exist, particularly with reference to the many

         19  small, single boxes that proliferate on the sidwalk.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Thank you.

         22                 MR. SCHNEIDER: Good afternoon,

         23  Chairman Dear and members of the Council. My name is

         24  Barry Schneider, and I have resided on the Upper

         25  East Side for more than 30 years.
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          2                 The loss of our sidewalks to all

          3  manners of street furniture - what a dreadful

          4  euphemism! - is appalling. New York City is proudly

          5  hailed as a city where people still walk. But with

          6  the proliferation of all kinds of obnoxious

          7  obstructions, the shoe leather express is rapidly

          8  being derailed.

          9                 Our City sidewalks are being taken

         10  over by hulking pay telephones, the 21st century

         11  equivalent of the buggy whip. But today I focus on

         12  the igominious newsbox. These odious protuberances

         13  are a blight on the streetscape of every residential

         14  community in the city. The Council must take action

         15  now to protect our neighborhoods against this. While

         16  17 years ago a hand shake may have been sufficient

         17  between the City and the news publishers, it is

         18  clearly not adequate now.

         19                 The people who sat here before you

         20  this afternoon did not represent the 68 or 78

         21  percent of the newsboxes that clutter our streets,

         22  and those are the people who have to be called to

         23  account.

         24                 Specifically all news boxes must be

         25  regulated by the Department of Transportation.
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          2                 Requests for revocable consents

          3  should be reviewed by the community board.

          4                 The number of news boxes at the

          5  intersection must be limited.

          6                 Siting criteria must be subject to

          7  public review, and a maintenance agreement must be

          8  entered into between a sponsor and the City.

          9  Maintenance regulations must be tough and

         10  enforceable.

         11                 For example, newsboxes must be kept

         12  graffiti free and stocked. Boxes empty for a

         13  specified period of time should be confiscated.

         14                 I urge the Council to make prompt and

         15  appropriate action for the regulation of newsboxes.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Go ahead.

         18                 MS. MUSCHEL: My name is Irene

         19  Muschel, I live in the Gramercy Park section of

         20  Manhattan. There are an enormous number of newspaper

         21  and school catalog boxes in my neighborhood. They

         22  are a serious threat to public health. In addition,

         23  the quantity of these boxes and the condition they

         24  are in work together to destroy a neighborhood.

         25                 Let's look at the health issue first.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            138

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  During the times when there are newspapers and

          3  catalogs in these boxes, and especially before the

          4  times when they are to be refilled, the boxes

          5  contained every kind of garbage imaginable - food,

          6  food wrappers, candy, candy wrappers, bottles,

          7  broken glass, and discarded IV needles. Anyone

          8  putting his hand in for a newspaper or catalog can

          9  get hurt and sick.

         10                 In reality, these boxes have become

         11  garbage boxes that are dangerous to the public

         12  because on the surface they appear to be something

         13  else.

         14                 As everyone knows, the newspapers and

         15  schools that put out the catalogs provide no

         16  maintenance for these boxes. Citizens who call the

         17  newpapers and schools to complain about the

         18  condition of the boxes are told that the problem

         19  will be corrected, but the problems are never

         20  corrected, but the hazardous conditions remain or

         21  get worse.

         22                 Many of these boxes, especially when

         23  there are eight or ten of them on the corner, make

         24  it difficult for people to cross.

         25                 The issue is not simply moving away
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          2  from the crossing area. Taking a box and moving it a

          3  few inches from the direct area of crossing is no

          4  solution. The box ends up right back in the crossing

          5  area within a day or so, and even if the boxes are

          6  removed a little bit from the crossing area they are

          7  still an obstruction.

          8                 On many corners there are five to ten

          9  boxes chained to a lamppost. In the center of this

         10  very ugly circle there is always a pile of garbage.

         11  The boxes are always filthy, there is garbage in

         12  them, on them and all around them, many people see

         13  it as a garbage area, and simply throw garbage into

         14  that circle.

         15                 Since the garbage is on the street

         16  and sometimes, but not always, hidden by the boxes,

         17  it remains there as the Sanitation Department

         18  basically just picks up the garbage that is in the

         19  regular garbage can.

         20                 The garbage that remains in that

         21  circle of boxes helps to increase the rat problem in

         22  this City.

         23                 Let's look at the quantity issue.

         24                 Anyone can put out a box. For

         25  newspapers, catalogs, flyers, for advertisement,
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          2  there are no rules, no regulations, no permits, no

          3  fees, it is a situation without any controls.

          4                 This results in huge numbers of these

          5  boxes on virtually every street corner.

          6                 On many corners there are incredibly

          7  two or more boxes standing right next to each other

          8  for the same newspaper or school catalogue.

          9                 On four corners of a particular

         10  street, say, for example, the northeast, northwest,

         11  southeast and southwest corners of 23rd Street and

         12  Third Avenues, some of the same boxes are on all

         13  four corners.

         14                 There are many stores, fruit markets

         15  and lobbies of apartment buildings that already

         16  carry --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Please try to

         18  conclude. I have your testimony, I could always make

         19  it part of the record.

         20                 MS. MUSCHEL: Okay.

         21                 Many that carry these newspapers.

         22  Why, for example, when a food store carries the New

         23  York Press does there have to be a New York Press

         24  box several feet away?

         25                 Or why when there are nine newspaper
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          2  stores that sell the New York Times on Third Avenue,

          3  between 14th and 23rd Streets, does the New York

          4  Times have to put out 11 newspaper boxes on Third

          5  Avenue between 14th and 23rd Street.

          6                 I just want to address one other

          7  issue which was not adequately addressed today, and

          8  that's the issue of abandoned boxes.

          9                 Further adding to this quantity are

         10  the huge number of abandoned boxes.

         11                 I cannot place an exact number on it,

         12  but visually it looks to me as if at least 40

         13  percent of these boxes are abandoned boxes. The

         14  newspapers in schools do not remove their abandoned

         15  boxes, they just leave them there covered with

         16  graffiti and garbage.

         17                 For example, for years there were two

         18  abandoned Our Town boxes on the southwest side of

         19  Third Avenue and 22nd Street, and the other on the

         20  southeast corner of 23rd and Lex.

         21                 There were locks on them. I have no

         22  idea who put the locks on them, and were obviously

         23  not being used. I called our town and asked them to

         24  remove them. They assured me they would. They never

         25  did.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            142

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 I called the Sanitation Department

          3  and the Transportation Department. They said they

          4  could not remove them, as they were private

          5  property. The boxes sat there for years.

          6                 I eventually learned about the Grand

          7  Central Partnership. I spoke to someone who worked

          8  there, she apparently knew someone at our town,

          9  called that person and had the boxes removed.

         10  However, there are plenty of abandoned Our Town

         11  boxes still around, one is on the southeast corner

         12  of 21st. There is no door in it. It has garbage in

         13  it.

         14                 Another Our Town box is on the

         15  southeast corner of 22nd.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Okay, we get the

         17  drift of it.

         18                 I just want --

         19                 MS. MUSCHEL: Okay, may I just have

         20  one last sentence and then I'll stop?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Yes.

         22                 MS. MUSCHEL: Can you imagine the

         23  penalties that a citizen would receive if he just

         24  dumped unwanted furniture on the streets of New

         25  York?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: A very good point.

          3  And I was going to say, you try putting out a box

          4  with your name of your company in front of your

          5  house, how fast you could get the Sanitation

          6  Department there to remove it. So, I agree with you,

          7  there's a double standard. People have this thing,

          8  this fear for the media, but, you know, that's

          9  overcome, I guess September 11th has overcome all

         10  our fears.

         11                 MS. MUSCHEL: Can I just say, sir, one

         12  last thing?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: No, that's it.

         14                 MS. MUSCHEL: That's it?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I have it in your

         16  record. Thank you very much.

         17                 Our last speaker is Judy Stanton. Two

         18  minutes.

         19                 MS. STANTON: I'm Judy Stanton,

         20  Executive Director of the Brooklyn Heights

         21  Association, for whom I'm speaking. And not to

         22  worry, I'm not going to keep you here any longer.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: You've been here

         24  before.

         25                 MS. STANTON: I know.
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          2                 Thank you both for staying as long as

          3  you have. I know, Council Member Dear, this is not

          4  the first time you've tried to draft such a bill,

          5  and this time I hope you succeed. It's perfect. I

          6  wouldn't change it. It addresses public safety. It

          7  does everything that it should do. Please pass it.

          8  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: This is very

         10  important, because everybody thinks it's one group

         11  who wants it, another community doesn't want it - I

         12  have to tell you, this is across the board. I've

         13  never seen such a positive reaction from my Council

         14  members from my Committee and from others who are

         15  absolutely very supportive of it. And I could tell

         16  you this, Thursday we are going to vote on the bill.

         17                 MS. STANTON: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: And it will look

         19  something like what we have here, and we're moving

         20  forward on this.

         21                 MS. STANTON: Well, I should say that

         22  if you're leaning towards that so-called voluntary

         23  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: By the way, all of

         25  these members of the community are here. You can
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          2  always contact the Council members to let them know

          3  that's how you feel about this, because I think it's

          4  important that they hear from the community, as

          5  well.

          6                 MS. STANTON: There was a voluntary

          7  agreement that was discussed at length.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Right.

          9                 MS. STANTON: I wasn't aware of it. I

         10  think Council Member Freed said everything that

         11  needed to be said on that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: We have --

         13                 MS. STANTON: But if you're leaning

         14  towards codifying that, I think more of us should

         15  see what that is. If it doesn't match the bill that

         16  you're proposing --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I can't tell you

         18  exactly what it will look like in the end, because

         19  we always make changes, but we will be here on

         20  Thursday, 11:00, a few minutes before you can talk

         21  to our counsel, and hopefully we will have the

         22  draft. You are welcome to be here. I will probably

         23  not take any more testimony, only those who are

         24  affected, maybe just some short testimony. If you

         25  can be here, I do suggest that you reach out to
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          2  members, the Council members who represent you so

          3  they can be supportive of this bill when we vote on

          4  it.

          5                 We will vote on the Committee on

          6  Thursday. We will not vote on the full Council, even

          7  though we have a full Council meeting on Thursday,

          8  we will not vote on Thursday, we will have to vote

          9  on it the following meeting we have.

         10                 I also want to make a comment about,

         11  there's another bill that's on, 262-A, it's

         12  regarding to alternate side of the street parking

         13  suspension for Ash Wednesday, for Purim and for St.

         14  Patrick's Day.

         15                 Just a little history to the Ash

         16  Wednesday: About three years ago a former Chief of

         17  Staff of this City Council by the name of Kevin

         18  McCabe came running up to me and calling me, asking

         19  me, Noach, my wife just got a summons for going to

         20  church, isn't Ash Wednesday one of the holidays the

         21  days are suspended?

         22                 I said, Mr. McCabe, if you will allow

         23  me, I would love to introduce the legislation. So,

         24  this bill, we're going to pass it, you could go back

         25  to your dad and say it's in honor -- I'm going to
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          2  call it the Kevin McCabe bill because it's in his

          3  honor.

          4                 And I wanted to add something else to

          5  it, once we want to honor him that way, I always

          6  want to honor him with St. Patrick's Day, because

          7  that's always my way to support him, because he was

          8  probably one of the best Chiefs of Staffs we had in

          9  the City Council. So, that's in his honor that I'm

         10  going to leave him with a nice beautiful present,

         11  and to your mom, too.

         12                 And Purim is very interesting. I

         13  remember putting Purim on -- a constituent of mine

         14  and other members of the Council came, it's a

         15  holiday where people visit other people's homes, and

         16  they found it difficult, particularly when it falls

         17  out on a Friday, to move around when you have

         18  alternate side of the street parking. And I did put

         19  the legislation up, and they always opposed it.

         20                 Moving with it now is only because

         21  I'm learning from the Administration. This past year

         22  they decided on their own without a local law to

         23  suspend the alternate side of the street parking for

         24  the holiday of Purim. All I'm doing is following

         25  what the Administration did in the past, to
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          2  continue, and I hope to recognize, not so much a

          3  recognition, but also to give those people who

          4  practice their religion, this is a City that

          5  welcomes everybody. I forgot how many with different

          6  religions we have, and I know we have quite a few

          7  number of religions. In fact, it was this chair,

          8  when I took over ten years ago, the first thing I

          9  did enact was the Muslim holidays that we have

         10  alternate side of the street parking suspended.

         11                 So, I will continue that tradition

         12  and on Thursday we will vote on all these bills that

         13  are before us.

         14                 So, at this time the hearing is in

         15  recess. We will convene on Thursday at 11:00.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 (The following testimony was read

         18  into the record.)

         19

         20

         21  Written Testimony Of:

         22  Joshua D. Filler

         23  Director of City Legislative Affairs

         24  And Chief of Staff to the Deputy Mayor for

         25  Operations
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          2  Office of the Mayor

          3  The City of New York

          4

          5  Memorandum In Opposition

          6

          7                 Title: A Local Law to amend the

          8  administrative code of the City of New York in

          9  relation to suspension of alternate side of the

         10  street parking rules on the religious holidays of

         11  Purim, Ash Wednesday and St. Patrick's Day.

         12                 Legislative Reference: Introductory

         13  Number 262-A.

         14                 Summary of Provisions:

         15                 This legislation would amend the

         16  Administrative Code to suspend alternate side of the

         17  street parking rules on Purim, Ash Wednesday and St.

         18  Patrick's Day.

         19                 Reasons for Opposition:

         20                 This legislation seeks to add three

         21  additional holidays to the list of days on which the

         22  City suspends its alternate side of the street

         23  parking rules. The alternate side rules allow the

         24  City to keep streets clean by clearing one side of a

         25  block so that street-sweepers may do their work.
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          2                 Currently, out of respect for

          3  prohibitions on labor on certain religious days

          4  observed by large portions of the populous, the City

          5  suspends the rules so that people are not forced to

          6  choose between moving their cars, thereby violating

          7  their religious duty, or receiving a ticket.

          8                 None of the days listed in this bill,

          9  Purim, Ash Wednesday or St. Patrick's Day, is a day

         10  on which a religious observer would not be permitted

         11  to move his or her car. There is, therefore, no

         12  reason why residents cannot comply with the parking

         13  rules on these days just as they do on any other.

         14                 The suspension of the rules should

         15  not be seen as an "honor" accorded to particular

         16  holidays. Rather, the rules are suspended out of

         17  respect for important religious precepts.

         18                 Absent the need for such sensitivity,

         19  there is no reason for the City to refrain from

         20  sweeping the streets. If the suspension of the rules

         21  becomes an "honor," then it will be extremely

         22  difficult for the City to deny requests for rule

         23  suspensions on numerous holidays important to

         24  various groups.

         25                 Proper street sweeping is important
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          2  to public health and essential to neighborhood

          3  quality-of-life. The Council should not impede the

          4  City from carrying out this basic function without

          5  sound reasons.

          6

          7                 Respectfully submitted,

          8                 Joshua D. Filler

          9

         10

         11  11/27/01

         12

         13

         14  Written Testimony Of:

         15  City of New York

         16  Community Board No. 2, Manhattan

         17  3 Washington Square Village

         18  New York, New York 10012

         19  (212) 533-1617

         20

         21  David N. Dinkins

         22  Manhattan Borough President

         23

         24  Charles B. Persell

         25  Chairperson
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          2

          3  Rita Lee

          4  District Manager

          5

          6  Sidewalks Are For People

          7  A Blueprint for Action

          8

          9  Report of the Sidewalk Usage Committee of Community

         10  Board No. 2, Manhattan.

         11

         12  Chairperson - Eugene Golombek

         13

         14  Board Committee Members - Anthony Dapolito

         15                            Doris Diether

         16                            Honi Klein

         17                            Charles B. Persell

         18                            Verna Small

         19

         20  Public Committee Members - Mimi Delcuve

         21                             Rita Tannenbaum

         22

         23  Board Staff -              Rita Lee,

         24                             District Manager

         25
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          2  Adopted by Community Board No. 2, Manhattan on

          3  January 29, 1987.

          4

          5  Representing: All of Greenwich Village, Little

          6  Italy, NoHo, SoHo, and parts of Chinatown.

          7

          8  Newspaper Vending Machines

          9

         10  I. Findings of Fact

         11                 1. Newspaper vending machines are

         12  appearing on the sidewalk an accelerating rate.

         13                 - The number of papers using machines

         14  increased from five in 1984 to at least nine by

         15  1985.

         16                 - The total number of machines used

         17  by each paper has increased significantly in the

         18  past two years.

         19                 2. The machines have become a form of

         20  visual pollution.

         21                 - Each paper uses a different design,

         22  shape, and color, creating a discordant effect and a

         23  carnival look.

         24                 - The flat tops on the machines

         25  encourage their use for discarded cups, cans, and
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          2  other litter.

          3                 3. The actual position of existing

          4  machines obstructs pedestrian flow, hinders

          5  maintenance of essential public fixtures, and are

          6  potentially life-threatening.

          7                 - Fifty percent of news vending

          8  machine complaints reported to the Bureau of Highway

          9  Operations cite violations for the closeness of the

         10  machines to the fire hydrant. Forty percent were for

         11  machines in the crosswalk. (This according to the

         12  Borough Coordinator of the Quality Control Division

         13  of Highways.)

         14                 - They are chained to lampposts, some

         15  block access to control boxes which are needed for

         16  maintenance of lighting.

         17                 4. The City has not developed a

         18  coherent set of guidelines governing vending

         19  machines since the signing of the March, 1984

         20  agreement prepared by a lawyer for the Department of

         21  Transportation, approved by the Law Department, and

         22  signed by the City and the first newspaper users of

         23  vending machines.

         24                 Relevant governmental agencies

         25  apparently were not consulted, although the
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          2  agreement clearly affects their responsibilities.

          3  Examples are:

          4                 - MTA - bus and subway stops.

          5                 - Fire Department - fire hydrants.

          6                 - Sanitation Department - trash cans.

          7                 - Consumer Affairs - effect upon

          8  other sidewalk uses which they regulate.

          9                 No community input was solicited.

         10                 - Public hearings were not held.

         11                 - Community Board were not informed

         12  of this agreement.

         13                 5. The agreement itself appears to be

         14  regularly and flagrantly violated by the newspapers.

         15                 An April 1985 request by Community

         16  Board No. 2 for notification of violations showed 72

         17  violations. (These include complaints received since

         18  December 11, 1985. The total number of complaints

         19  submitted was 77.

         20                 More than three months after they

         21  were forwarded to the Department of Transportation's

         22  Bureau of Highway Operations, action has still not

         23  been taken on at least 33 percent of them. (Thirty

         24  violations remain pending for Fiscal Year 1985.)

         25                 Twenty-one other violations forwarded
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          2  to Highways since July 1985 remain pending as of

          3  March 24, 1986. (Fiscal Year 1986.)

          4                 6. Thus, enforcement of this

          5  agreement is negligible, if not non-existent.

          6                 No regular inspections are taking

          7  place. (The Bureau of Highways will inspect only

          8  upon request by the Community Board Office.)

          9                 At least one newspaper publisher who

         10  has not signed the agreement is putting machines on

         11  the street, and probably more.

         12                 A recent request to the Department of

         13  Transportation for a report on vending machine

         14  locations in the Community Board No. 2 area revealed

         15  that the Department's file is disorganized and

         16  unusable.

         17                 Vending machines used by "City

         18  Business," which merged with "Crains" a year ago,

         19  are still on the streets, unused and not maintained.

         20  We have no evidence that the City is actively

         21  pursuing legal redress.

         22                 7. The City collects no fees to cover

         23  the costs of the attention the machines obviously

         24  require.

         25                 II. Committee Recommendations.
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          2                 Note: A study of the recent legal

          3  history of regulating news vending machines on

          4  public property was prepared by a Board member who

          5  is a lawyer. Her report (see appendix) clearly shows

          6  that many of our recommendations are possible if the

          7  City writes careful and well thought out regulations

          8  and has the will to fight for them in court.

          9                 1. The City must develop a thoughtful

         10  and coherent policy on newspaper vending machines.

         11                 This policy should be developed with

         12  involvement of all relevant governmental agencies,

         13  including though not necessarily limited to:

         14                 - City Planning Commission.

         15                 - Consumer Affairs Department.

         16                 - Art Commission.

         17                 - Department of Transportation.

         18                 - Metropolitan Transit Authority.

         19                 - Police Department.

         20                 - Fire Department.

         21                 - Community Boards.

         22                 Uniform designs standards should be

         23  required.

         24                 - These standards should establish a

         25  single size and simple shape, and include a rounded
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          2  top to discourage the deposit of litter and garbage

          3  on the machines.

          4                 Each newspaper can be assigned an

          5  identifying color and a style of lettering. Because

          6  these machines have become so widespread and

          7  conspicuous a part of street furniture, the City Art

          8  Commission should be consulted by the Department of

          9  Highways to decide upon their design. A design of

         10  high quality, simple and straightforward, would not

         11  adversely affect the City's designated Historic

         12  Districts.

         13                 Vending machines should not be

         14  affixed or chained to any street fixture, such as a

         15  lamppost, but should be bolted into a position

         16  assigned by the City so that they are stationary.

         17                 The needs of different communities

         18  should govern the number of machines permitted in

         19  any specific area.

         20                 - Some communities with few stores

         21  may need many vending machines.

         22                 - Mixed commercial-residential

         23  communities with a large number of stores and

         24  newsstands may need fewer.

         25                 Community Board hearings should be
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          2  held to allow the public to comment on these local

          3  needs.

          4                 2. The City should vigorously pursue

          5  legal clarification of First Amendment issues to

          6  establish its full right to regulate vending-machine

          7  usage on sidewalks and to limit their use to

          8  newspapers.

          9                 As an example, the use of vending

         10  machines to distribute advertisement, like the

         11  "Learning Annex" public, should be prohibited.

         12                 3. Fees, should be imposed to cover

         13  the full cost to the City for both the processing of

         14  applications and the monitoring and enforcement of

         15  all City rules and regulations.

         16                 4. Further, as in all situations

         17  where sidewalks are used for commercial purposes,

         18  the City should receive revenue commensurate with

         19  the fair market rent for square footage in each

         20  area.

         21                 5. The Agreement on Vending Machines

         22  (which is appended to this report) should be revised

         23  immediately to incorporate the following changes in

         24  the sections named:

         25                 Introduction. Paragraph II: It
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          2  further has a responsibility not to damage the

          3  visual harmony of any City neighborhood.

          4                 Description and Installation.

          5                 (c) Any machines found to be

          6  violating the "no advertising" rule for more than 10

          7  days shall be removed and a fine imposed upon the

          8  company (The time limit being standard for all City

          9  violations.)

         10                 Location.

         11                 (a) Further, the same standard width

         12  of obstruction-free sidewalk that must remain for

         13  other sidewalk structures such as newsstands and

         14  cafes should be established for the placement of

         15  these machines.

         16                 (b) vii & viii) Under no circumstance

         17  should a machine be allowed to occupy the space

         18  contained within an extension of a corner building

         19  line from the building to the sidewalk. (i.e.), the

         20  corner quadrant.

         21                 X) No sidewalk abutting a park may

         22  have a vending machine.

         23                 Xi) No machine shall be installed on

         24  any area of lawn, flower, shrub, tree or other

         25  landscaping or directly abut such an area, or in any

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            161

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  way interfere with the aesthetics of the

          3  landscaping, or damage it.

          4                 Xi) Standards for sidewalk clearance

          5  should be defined and should be in agreement with

          6  standards for other sidewalk clearance should be

          7  defined and should be in agreement with standards

          8  for other sidewalk usages (i.e., cafes and

          9  newsstands)(see(a) above).

         10                 (c) Machines may be grouped in units

         11  of no more than two, each unit shall be at least 50

         12  feet from any other unit on that same block. No more

         13  than four machines (2 units) shall occupy any one

         14  blockface.

         15                 Further only one machine per

         16  publication shall be permitted on each block or

         17  within 100' of each other or at any single

         18  intersection.

         19                 Where more newspapers want to be

         20  within the same space a lottery should be used to

         21  allocate space. The losers should get priority for

         22  the closest available slots.

         23                 (d) This section should be

         24  eliminated. Grandfathering is unnecessary because

         25  these machines are not so expensive that moving them
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          2  would be a hardship.

          3                 - No machine should ever be allowed

          4  in a crosswalk.

          5                 - Approval procedure should be:

          6                 - Inspection by Bureau of Highways as

          7  to location.

          8                 - Notification to Community Board.

          9                 - Public hearing by Community Board.

         10                 - Vote of approval by the Community

         11  Board.

         12                 - Approval should be revocable.

         13                 (e) Should be changed to conform to

         14  all previous changes recommended.

         15                 Maintenance Repair and Removal.

         16                 (a) Machine will be kept clean of

         17  graffiti, handbills, and in good repair.

         18                 Violations must be resolved within 10

         19  days or City shall remove the machine.

         20                 Fees and bond.

         21                 A bond should be posted for each

         22  machine to cover the cost to the City if it should

         23  need to remove the machine for persistent violations

         24  or abandonment by the publisher.

         25                 The following fees will be charged:
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          2                 - Installation fee - to provide for

          3  cost of reviewing application and inspecting units

          4  prior to and after installation.

          5                 - Annual fee to cover the City's cost

          6  of regular full-time inspections. The fee should be

          7  adjusted annually based on costs to the City.

          8

          9

         10  Written Testimony Of:

         11  Irene Muschel

         12

         13                 My name is Irene Muschel. I live in

         14  the Gramercy Park section of Manhattan. There are an

         15  enormous number of newspaper and school catalog

         16  boxes in my neighborhood. They are a serious threat

         17  to the public health.

         18                 In addition, the quantity of these

         19  boxes and the condition they are in work together to

         20  destroy a neighborhood.

         21                 Let's look at the health issue first:

         22                 During the times when there are

         23  newspapers and catalogs in these boxes and

         24  especially before the times when they are to be

         25  refilled, the boxes contain every kind of garbage
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          2  imaginable - food, food wrappers, candy, candy

          3  wrappers, bottles, broken glass, and discarded IV

          4  needles. Anyone putting his hand in for a newspaper

          5  or catalog can get hurt and sick.

          6                 In reality, these boxes have become

          7  garbage boxes that are dangerous to the public

          8  because on the surface they appear to be something

          9  else.

         10                 As everyone knows, the newspapers and

         11  schools that put out the catalogs provide no

         12  maintenance for these boxes.

         13                 Citizens who call the newspapers and

         14  schools to complain about the condition of the boxes

         15  are told that the problem will be corrected. But the

         16  problems are never corrected and the hazardous

         17  conditions remain or get worse.

         18                 Many of these boxed - especially when

         19  there are eight or ten of them on a corner, make it

         20  difficult for people to cross. The issue is not

         21  simply moving them away from the crossing area.

         22  Taking a box and moving it a few inches from the

         23  direct area of crossing is no solution. The box ends

         24  up right back in the crossing area within a day or

         25  so. And even if the boxes are a little removed from
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          2  the direct crossing area, they are still an

          3  obstruction.

          4                 On many corners, there are 5-10 boxes

          5  chained to a lamppost. In the center of this very

          6  ugly circle, there is always a pile of garbage. As

          7  the boxes are always filthy - there is garbage in

          8  them, on them, and all around them - many people see

          9  it as a garbage area and simply throw garbage into

         10  that circle.

         11                 Since the garbage is on the street

         12  and sometimes but not always hidden by the boxes, it

         13  remains there as the Sanitation Department basically

         14  just picks up the garbage that is in the regular

         15  garbage cans. The garbage that remains in that

         16  circle of boxes helps to increase the rat problem in

         17  this City.

         18                 Let us now look at the quantity

         19  issue:

         20                 Anyone can put out a box for

         21  newspapers, catalogs, flyers, or advertisements.

         22  There are no rules, no regulations, no permits, and

         23  no fees. It is a situation without any controls.

         24                 This results in huge numbers of these

         25  boxes on virtually every street corner. On many
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          2  corners, there are, incredibly, two or more boxes

          3  standing right next to each other for the same

          4  newspaper or school catalog. On four corners of a

          5  particular street, say, for example, the NE, NW, SE,

          6  and SW corners of 23 Street and 3 Avenue, some of

          7  the same boxes are on all 4 corners.

          8                 There are many stores, fruit markets,

          9  and lobbies of apartment buildings that already

         10  carry these newspapers. Why, for example, when a

         11  fruit store carriers the New York Press, does there

         12  have to be a New York Press box several feet away?

         13  Or why, when there are 9 newspaper stores that sell

         14  the New York Times on 3 Avenue between 14-23

         15  Streets, does The New York Times have to put out 11

         16  newspaper boxes on 3 Avenue between 14-23 Streets?

         17                 Further adding to this quantity are

         18  the huge number of abandoned boxes. They just leave

         19  them there covered with graffiti and garbage.

         20                 For example, for years, there were 2

         21  abandoned Our Town boxes -- one on the southwest

         22  corner of 23 Street and Lexington. There were locks

         23  on them and were obviously not being used.

         24                 I called Our Town and asked them to

         25  remove them. They assured me they would. They did
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          2  not. I called the Sanitation Department and the

          3  Transportation Department. They said they could not

          4  remove them as they were private property.

          5                 The boxes sat there for years. I

          6  eventually learned about the Grand Central

          7  Partnership. I spoke to someone who worked there;

          8  she apparently knew someone at Our Town, called that

          9  person and had the boxes removed.

         10                 However, there are plenty of

         11  abandoned Our Town boxes still around. One is at the

         12  SE corner of 20 Street and 1 Avenue; there is no

         13  door on it; it has garbage in it. Another Our Town

         14  abandoned box is on the SE corner of 22 Street and

         15  Park Avenue South; it has a lock on it.

         16                 Can you imagine the penalties that a

         17  citizen would receive if he just dumped unwanted

         18  furniture on the streets of New York? The people who

         19  own these boxes receive no penalties at all for the

         20  same behaviors.

         21                 The final issue is one of quality!

         22                 Boxes are covered with graffiti.

         23  There is garbage in them, on them, and around them.

         24  Being forced to look at these collections of garbage

         25  everywhere is extremely unpleasant. It makes my
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          2  neighborhood an ugly place.

          3                 Some time ago, I was travelling in

          4  St. Petersburg, Florida. On 2 far apart corners, I

          5  saw some newspaper boxes. One had 2 boxes, the other

          6  3. The boxes were shiny and clean. I asked some

          7  people how come there was no graffiti. The response

          8  was that if the owner of a box did not keep it

          9  immaculate, the City government removed the box.

         10                 I think it is very important to

         11  recognize that this is not an issue of freedom of

         12  speech as the box owners would like you to believe.

         13  This has as much to do with freedom of speech as

         14  someone shouting "FIRE!" In a crowded theatre has to

         15  do with freedom of speech.

         16                 This street furniture should be

         17  eliminated and another way found to make these

         18  papers available to citizens.

         19                 If it cannot be entirely eliminated,

         20  then there should be strict controls as to.

         21                 1- the number of boxes on a corner.

         22                 2- the frequency that a newspaper or

         23  school can place a box in an area.

         24                 3- standards of maintenance that must

         25  be enforced. (I would like to point out that there
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          2  were all kinds of rules of maintenance for the

          3  telephones that have inundated this area. The rules

          4  could not be enforced because there were not enough

          5  people to enforce them and the telephone companies

          6  don't adequately maintain their own phones. Simply

          7  writing rules for maintenance of these boxes without

          8  any structure for realistic backup will not improve

          9  the situation.)

         10                 The city can use the money for

         11  permits that should be required to place a box. The

         12  city can also use the money from fines that should

         13  be given for a lack of maintenance.

         14

         15                 Irene Muschel

         16                 212-674-4487

         17                 150 East 18th Street, 7-B

         18                 New York, New York 10003.

         19                 (The hearing recessed at 4:03 p.m.)

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            170

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 27th day of November 2001.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of
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         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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